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Financial Times Group • As we invest in international and online

expansion, the reach and influence of the Financial Times brand

continues to grow. Our network of business and financial newspapers

and online services informs the daily decisions of more than four

million business people and investors worldwide.

Penguin • By discovering a new generation of best selling authors and acquiring

Dorling Kindersley, the leader in illustrated reference, Penguin has reinforced its

position as one of the world’s best-known publishers. It publishes an unrivalled

range of fiction and non-fiction, bestsellers and classics, children’s and reference

works, read by people in 110 countries.

Pearson Education • With the acquisition of NCS, one of the world’s leading testing and

educational solutions companies, and the launch of Learning Network, the most popular

consumer education source on the internet, we have created the world’s leading learning

company. Our text books, online learning tools and testing and assessment programmes

help to educate more than 100 million people around the world every year.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

ADJUSTED EARNINGS per share

2000

1996

1997

1998

1999

27.3p

31.2p

37.5p

47.6p†
43.3p*

*after internet enterprises   † before internet enterprises

54.6p†
31.9p*

EBITDA

2000

1996

1997

1998

1999

£352m

£393m

£455m

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (before internet enterprises)

£780m

£670m

DIVIDEND per share

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

16.1p

17.4p

18.8p

20.1p

21.4p

	 2000 	 1999 


SALES  	 £3,874m	 	 £3,332m 


 	 $5,850m 	 	 $5,031m


OPE RATI NG PROFIT before internet enterprises 	 £686m	 	 £588m 


 	 $1,036m 	 	 $888m


NET I NVESTMENT in internet enterprises 	 £(196)m 	 	 £(39)m 


 	 $(296)m 	 	 $(59)m 


PRE-TA X PROFIT  after internet enterprises 	 £333m	 	 £402m 


 	 $503m 	 	 $607m


ADJUSTED EARNI NGS per share, before internet enterprises 	 54.6p 	 47.6p 


 	 82.4¢ 	 71.9¢ 


ADJUSTED EARNINGS per share, after internet enterprises 	 31.9p	  43.3p 


 	 48.2¢ 	 65.4¢ 


DIVIDEND per share 	 21.4p 	 20.1p 


 	 32.3¢ 	  30.4¢


value of the dollar translated at $1.51:£1 sterling

note • All charts are stated before goodwill, integration costs and non-operating items. 
Prior year earnings and dividend per share have been restated to reflect the rights issue.
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To: Fellow shareholders

From: Dennis Stevenson

It has taken three years of hard work to turn Pearson from an attractive collection

of diverse businesses into one company with a coherent strategy single-mindedly

pursued by every part of Pearson. If you want to read not just about Pearson’s future

strategy but also an unusually down-to-earth and insightful view of the changing

commercial environment, you should turn to Marjorie’s report on page 5. I sum up

that strategy in two simple statements:

• we want to make outstanding returns for our shareholders by creating, owning,

applying and exploiting intellectual property;

• we want to do this in a way that is brave, imaginative and decent.

Last year we made a number of moves – the acquisitions of National Computer Systems

(NCS) and Dorling Kindersley, the sale of Lazard, a major investment in our internet

enterprises – that we knew, taken together, would suppress our earnings in 2000.

We did so because we believe they put us in better shape to deliver longer-term growth

across all our businesses. And we did so safe in the knowledge that we would continue

to deliver on our key financial goals – sales, margins and cash – at the operating level.

As Marjorie makes clear, this focus on performance is at the heart of all we do. 

It matters not to us whether the activity could be described as ‘old’ or ‘new’ economy;

what is important is what works in helping to deliver our strategy. Nothing is certain

in this life but I am as confident as I can be that:

• we have a simple strategy that we all understand and believe in;

• we will steadily increase value for Pearson’s shareholders.

My confidence stems from the conviction that our colleagues – and the way they

feel about being part of Pearson – are the key to creating more value. Yes, compet-

itive material rewards are crucial to motivating the people who work in our 

businesses. That is why, at this year’s annual general meeting, we will be asking 

for your approval of a new long-term incentive plan. The plan is designed to ensure
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that our global business – anchored as it is, more than ever, in the United States of

America – is able to compete worldwide for the very best talent.

But material rewards are only part of the answer. We are fortunate to be part of a

company where many of our colleagues choose to make their careers with Pearson

when (even following the implementation of our new long-term incentive plan) they

could earn greater rewards elsewhere. One of the reasons they stay is because of

the second part of our strategy – in every part of Pearson, in everything we do, we

aspire to be brave, imaginative and decent (and we expect everyone who works with

us to share those aspirations). 

In the past year we have also been pleased to see a steady increase in the number

of highly talented people – at all levels – who seek to join us. They are excited by

our reputation and impressed by the quality of what we do.

I believe that, over the years, our values have ensured that, while being far from

perfect, we have lived by ethical and environmental codes of which we can be proud.

This year, for the first time, we include in the directors’ report formal statements

on labour standards, human rights and environmental policy. We will, in future years,

report our performance against these policies. But we are also determined to ensure

that we won’t confuse our ability to ‘tick the right box’ in terms of our policies with

the bigger task of ensuring that we remain true to the values and principles that

have been at the heart of Pearson throughout its life. 

Pearson is in the happy position of being able to draw on the experience and energy

of a very committed group of non-executive directors, whom I thank wholeheartedly

for their contribution to our many successes. After nine years as a non-executive

director and nearly four years as Chairman of our Personnel Committee, Gill Lewis

has decided to step down from the board of Pearson at the AGM. On behalf of 

the board I want to give particular thanks to Gill for the enormous contribution 

she has made.
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CHAIRMAN’S LET TER (CONT I N UE D)

Dennis Stevenson

Over the last few years we have been working hard to make Pearson a great place

to work. The record performance we are reporting this year is built on the abilities

and the creativity of 25,000 people across Pearson, led by a quite out-of-the-ordinary

senior management corps. The board is enormously grateful to everyone in Pearson

for their commitment, their talent and their hard work. They make this a very special

company to work in and to invest in. 
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Pearson is beginning to make sense. For the last

four years we’ve been honing its strategy and

simplifying its parts into a club of complementary

businesses. Individually, those businesses lead

their markets, and with each other they share

assets and values and a consistent way of doing

things. There’s now a ‘Pearson-ness’ about us that

was more theoretical than real before. 

This approach has helped us to another record year.

More importantly, it underscores the fact that we

now have a business and a strategy which we’re

confident will deliver a series of record years into 

the future.

That doesn’t mean we’ve arrived, or even that we’re

at a rest stop. It just means we know where we’re

going. We are about education and enlightenment.

About helping children succeed at school or adults

succeed in their work. About helping politicians

consider different points of view or business people

divine markets. About inspiring people to take a

fresh look – or enjoy a wry smile – at the world.

That may sound a little grandiose. We certainly

recognise the challenges and our limitations. Take

interpreting markets, for instance. Sometimes that

work is a little close to home. Toward the end of

2000 and the beginning of 2001, it dawned on the

world that there aren’t two economies after all. Many

people had suspected that all along, and suspected

that what had been happening was just that markets

– and human beings – were tending toward excess,

as we always do. 

So the trick was to stick with a set of basic principles,

whatever your strategy. And we have. We believe
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there’s only one economy, and it demands to be fed

sales and profits, and it thrives on growth. Keeping

that in mind we focused our internet development on 

businesses that were integral to our main pursuits in

education and in business information. We looked

for ways to relate new ventures rather than spin

them off into separate companies. 

We weren’t carried away by the internet euphoria,

and we aren’t carried away by the doom and gloom

now either. Good businesses are still built on good

ideas, well executed, and we believe technology

can make both the ideas and the execution 

more powerful.

THE YEAR 2000

In fact, we’ve been using the internet for several years

to ignite and power our businesses, and last year it

played a larger part than ever both in our success 

in the existing businesses and in the size of our 

investment in the new ones. But it was only a part.

We had another record operating perform-

ance at the same time as we were building

our growth potential around the group.

The results are discussed in detail on

pages 11 to 38. The headlines are that our

results were made up of strong operating

contributions from all parts of Pearson, and

that we’ve invested to make sure our results

of the future will be just as reliable and strong.

The Financial Times Group • In a changeable

economy, the Financial Times Group had a

whopping year, spurred on by its newspapers’

continuing growth in popularity and profitability, as

well as their versatility and innovativeness.
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Five years ago this group made about £100m in

profit and was heavily dependent on one newspaper

that sold 300,000 copies, most of them in its home

market. In 2000, the FT Group logged a profit of more

than £200m. That UK newspaper now exerts influence

around the world, with two-thirds of its readers

outside the UK. FT.com, its flagship web service, has

begun to take on a life of its own, with impressive

traffic and growing revenue, and the confidence to

integrate itself into a more seamless relationship

with the newspaper’s editorial and advertising staff.

This kind of transformation was repeated in our

other business information operations, too. Les

Echos continued to be France’s most profitable

newspaper, with both advertising and circulation

well up. At the same time, its business web service

was the most popular one in the .fr space.

In Spain, Expansión made similar strides, adding 

to its roster of readers and of advertisers and 

developing Expansiondirecto.com into Spain’s

leading online business service. Likewise, our part-

nership paper and online service in Germany (FT

Deutschland, the first non-English language 

publication that carries the FT name), as well as

those in South Africa, Russia and Portugal,

continued to gain ground in their markets. So did the

world’s best weekly news magazine, The Economist.

International, non-English-speaking markets form

an increasingly important part of Pearson’s strategy.

Recoletos, our Spanish media company which,

among other things, publishes Marca, the largest

sports newspaper in Europe, offered part of its

ownership to the public market on the Madrid stock

exchange in 2000. This allows Recoletos to have a

freely traded currency to fund other ventures in

Spain and Latin America, as well as to gauge its

CHIEF  E XECUT IVE’S  REVIEW (CONT I N UE D)

Books have always been a great way to connect people –
and now Penguin is connecting with readers in ways
never possible before. We webcast interviews with best
selling authors like Patricia Cornwell, using questions
from live audiences or emailed from readers. Reading
communities are sprouting up everywhere, nurtured by
Penguin’s online readers groups and networks such as
PenguinClassics.com. In less than a year we’ve built
direct relationships with more than 200,000 book
lovers, who enjoy the Penguin experience online and give
us information about their reading habits. 

B I R D S O F A F E A T H E R
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progress against its competitors by the market’s

response. With Recoletos’ help, we will try to

increase our complement of Spanish businesses in 

a world where Spanish is one of the three most 

spoken languages.

Pearson Education • Our largest business, institu-

tional education, also took another giant step

forward this year, in spite of the fact that it was

already the world leader. Sales and profits increased

in all businesses. At the same time, we invested in

innovation, continuing to develop new online and

print services and to build scale across the world in

what may be the most important industry of our age. 

One in three American children now use one of our

math programmes. It is mathematically impossible

to graduate from college in the US without being

assigned one of our textbooks or online services.

In 2000, we continued to improve these odds.

With our most successful reading programme for a

decade, our US schools business held on to the

market gains it made in 1999. Our US higher

education business outperformed the market in its

college business, though it was held back a bit by

the flat consumer computer book market, in spite 

of having half the bestsellers in the category. Our

share in international education markets, mean-

while, grew in double digits, based both on our

business teaching the English language and on our

local language programmes.

The September acquisition of NCS has already 

begun to revolutionise our education business. 

After seven months of ownership we are more

confident than ever that it will make not only

outstanding shareholder returns, but also a valuable

contribution to the whole process of learning. 

S O W H A T D I D
Y O U D O A T S C H O O L

T O
D

A
Y

?

Imagine having your child’s attendance records,
homework assignments and progress reports available
at the click of a mouse. No more rummaging in their
backpack to find out how they’re doing at school. Our
new NCS4School application enables parents to see
records, communicate with teachers and keep abreast of
their child’s academic performance and needs, so that
they can play a bigger part in the learning process.
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CHIEF  E XECUT IVE’S  REVIEW (CONT I N UE D)

groups turned in award-winning performances. Its

list of hits has never been longer, nor has its list of

awards for literary excellence.

To add to the glitter, in 2000 we acquired Dorling

Kindersley, an entirely different kind of publishing

company with a unique formula for exciting imag-

inations. DK has a store of largely home-grown or

purpose-built content made of the artful marriage 

of beautiful pictures and quality text. Out of that

marriage has come an imposing library of digitised

images. So we’ll be able not only to bring Penguin

efficiency to bear on the DK business, we’ll also be

able to apply its content and images like magic

around Pearson.

. . . AND BEYOND

In re-shaping our company, we’ve tried to take

account of where the world is going, as well as our

own aims and assets. Over the last two years, that

world appeared to be twisted out of recognition

by the invisible wire that connects us called the

internet. We know that wire hasn’t changed the

rules of business, but something has changed.

There has been something of a revolution in the

NCS Pearson, as it’s now called, is the leader in school

software services, testing and data management. With

Pearson Education’s course content and NCS’s ability to

provide assessment and student data and connections

between schools and homes, we can create edu-

cational programmes made to order for each student.

Education can be customised. This is the revolution we

hope to lead.

We also hope to serve learning needs broader than

institutions alone. So in 2000 we launched a consumer

learning business. Learning Network, an online network

carried on the internet and on AOL, is designed for

schools, parents, children, professionals and adults

who want to keep on educating themselves. This

network of sources, from inside and outside Pearson,

provides a range of products and services to help each

person assess his needs and fulfill them from

something that can be used or bought online.

Penguin • Penguin published wonderful books while

continuing to deliver the best margins and overall

financial performance in the industry. We have been

investing in its stock of would-be bestsellers, as well

as in its classics and star authors, and this year both

FT.com’s audience of managers around the world are at
the top or headed there. its new career management
service FTCareerPoint is an invitation to senior talent 
to post their cvs, browse hundreds of international

recruitment ads and apply for top jobs online. Rather than
poring through thousands of cvs, businesses save time
using FTCareerPoint to find the managers of the future.
that’s the right climbing party to join.

T H E R E ' S A N E A S I E R W A Y T O
T H E

T O
P
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world in which we’re doing business. We see it in

several trends: 

The customer is in charge – really • This is no longer

just a reminder that the customer is always right.

It’s a fundamental shift in the balance of power

from producer to consumer. People can tailor their

lives to their personal needs and tastes; create

products from off-the-shelf components and block

ads from their tv screens. They can have things

their way.

Business is now about services • To sell printers, you

need to sell printing services – theatre tickets,

newspapers. The value is in what the product can

do. We can’t sell just textbooks; we have to sell

applications that help teachers use the books to

make lessons more engaging and more personal.

Intellectual property isn’t what it used to be • The shift

toward services also means that content is

sometimes more valuable when it’s paired with

applications, or when it’s shared in some way. We live

in an age of alliances – with suppliers, customers,

colleagues, even competitors. Information or assets

shared with them may become richer and make our

ways of working more efficient.

These trends have led us to begin to change a lot

about what we’re creating and how we’re selling and

distributing it, as you can see in the illustrations on

these pages. Our emphasis is now on personalising

our services; on connecting with our customers and

connecting them with each other; and on looking for

flexible ways to share our assets to widen our

markets and accelerate our growth.

Nowhere are these trends more applicable than 

in education. We all learn at different paces, in

different ways, with different motivations. Technology

allows us to make the most of those differences. We

can create personalised learning – dynamic courses

with materials not bound by two-dimensional

textbooks from only one source or teachers not bound

by assumptions about what the class is learning. It

allows us to assess each student’s – or an entire 

class’ – progress, add relevant data on the student,

connect those who have an interest in the process

(teachers, parents) and help everyone succeed in

education. What’s more, we can do this in a prog-

ramme prescribed by an institution or chosen by a

consumer in his own home.

N O W P R O F E S S O R S C A N A S K T H E C L A S S

Pearson’s multimedia packages bring a new dimension to
college education. Chemistry, The Central Science, is just
one of our textbooks which comes with an interactive
service where students carry out simulated experiments or
complete tests online, get their results immediately and

collaborate on assignments with other students. And all
the material also appears on a handheld PC, so there’s no
need to take a book to class. Professors can ask questions
in class, find out instantly what their students are
learning and customise lectures to their needs.
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CHIEF  E XECUT IVE’S  REVIEW (CONT I N UE D)

We’re nothing without our people. We think it’s our job to challenge and
inspire them – and to harness their ideas about the future of Pearson. In

February 2001, we brought together in California 140 of our newest, most
promising people to brainstorm new strategies, identify business opportuni-
ties and plan ways for our companies to work together more closely. All the
photos running through this report were taken at the conference. 

These trends may change. There’s certainly no time or

room for complacency. We can still remember saying

blithely that we were a ‘content’ company and

thinking our rich stories and insights and ideas were

enough. Our world-class brands could do the rest.

Now we need more. Now we have to provide the utility

and connectivity that make our content special and

give our brands personality. We have to help our

customers use our content in a way that makes life

easier for them. And whatever we do has to make a

return for our shareholders. We’ve achieved record

results this year and for each of the four years 

before that. That’s a trend we plan to follow well into 

the future.

To succeed in all this requires imagination. And that

can come from only one place in Pearson — from the

thousands of people here who every day do their

jobs with self-confidence and creativity and respect

for each other and those they do business with. In

2000, the people who work in Pearson once again

went all out and produced wonderful products,

exemplary marketing and delivery, unstinting support

services and long-term value for shareholders.

Thanks to all of you. Since most of you are already

shareholders, you’ll reap the value you’ve created

and have the satisfaction of having done some very

worthwhile things in the process.
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Marjorie Scardino



11

A review of Pearson’s performance in 2000 needs first to be put in the context of

our goals and targets. What are we trying to achieve? How do we measure

progress? What are the rewards of success, and the penalties of failure? These

goals provide the bridge between the group’s strategic objectives which Marjorie

has just outlined and the review of performance which follows.

The starting point for all our targets is that we are aiming for faster growth and 

a higher quality of financial performance than our peers in the media industry, in

Europe and the US, and than the broader stock market indices to which we belong.

We manage Pearson’s operations with the help of a variety of key performance 

indicators which allow us to monitor performance against consistent criteria. Some

of these are specific to individual businesses – only the FT Group need be concerned

with the mix of circulation and advertising revenues for example – while others are

relevant to every part of Pearson. 

There are six financial measures which we track carefully and use to drive improve-

ments in performance across Pearson. Three of them, the corporate measures, relate

to the performance of Pearson as a whole. The others, the operating measures,

provide the framework for the financial plans of each individual business. 

The corporate measures directly align our targets with the preferred valuation criteria

of our shareholders and support the requirement to fund a rising stream of dividend

income. They are used to determine both short and long-term rewards for senior

corporate management.

The operating measures form the basis of annual management bonus plans within

each company. They are agreed as a package, so that excessive emphasis on cash

generation does not jeopardise sales growth, or vice versa.

We have created separate measures for our internet enterprises, which we discuss

towards the end of this section.

THE PE AR SON GOALS
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1 • ADJUSTED EARNINGS

In 1997 we committed to increase adjusted earnings

per share, the best definition of underlying earnings

growth that we could find, at a double digit annual

rate. The purpose was to deliver superior growth in

the measure of performance most widely used by 

our shareholders and also to express our commit-

ment to deliver this growth year in, year out. We

subsequently excluded internet enterprises from

this definition of earnings since it was clear that, 

in the early stages of their development, these 

enterprises were not being valued by our share-

holders on the basis of earnings (or lack of them) and

since the application of the double digit standard 

to our total adjusted earnings would have resulted 

in our internet enterprises being starved of much-

needed investment.

We have achieved this double digit growth in each 

of the four years since the target was set. In 2000

adjusted earnings per share increased by 14.7% to

54.6p. This growth was helped by a two point

reduction in the rate of tax used to calculate

adjusted earnings (though we would have achieved

our double digit target even without the benefit of

this lower tax rate). 

2 • EBITDA

In addition to earnings per share we focus on two

corporate financial indicators which help us chart

our course and, where appropriate, correct it. The

first is EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depre-

ciation and amortisation) which is a close proxy for

operating cash flow but, like earnings per share, can

be derived from a review of the profit and loss

statement. As changes in accounting standards

relating to deferred tax, goodwill amortisation and

other non-trading items make it more difficult, in

our view, to track underlying changes in performance

from year to year through earnings per share, we

shall place greater emphasis on EBITDA as a

measure of performance. It is increasingly used by

analysts as a basis for valuing media companies

such as Pearson. 

The table illustrates progress over the past five

years. Last year EBITDA (before internet enterprises

and integration costs) increased by 16% to £780m,

while over the whole five year period the compound

rate of growth has averaged 22%.

3 • FREE C ASH FLOW

Free cash flow per share (operating cash flow less 

tax paid on operating profits and interest paid) is

another highly relevant measure since it defines 

the capacity of the company to reinvest in the

business and fund dividends to shareholders

without incurring additional debt. The progress of

free cash flow needs to be measured over a period of

years however, since performance in any one year

can be affected by large individual investment

programmes or even by the timing of the collection

of receivables from key customers.

2000 saw free cash flow of 49.1p per share, a modest

increase on 1999 which was a year of exceptionally

strong cash performance. Growth in free cash flow

per share currently determines the award of Pearson

Equity Incentives in the senior management reward

plan (see p48). 
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CORPORATE ME A SURES
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5 • TRADING MARGIN

6 • CASH CONVERSION

Before internet enterprises, goodwill, integration costs and non-operating items.

See page 99 for additional information.

4 • UNDERLYING SALES GROWTH



6 • C ASH CONVERSION

We believe that Pearson should be able to convert 

at least 80% of its profit into cash flow after funding

the working and fixed capital investments necessary

to deliver superior growth. In 1998 and 1999 we

exceeded that target by a healthy margin as the

group benefited from a number of non-recurring

cash items and timing variances. 

In 2000 we reverted to a more normal pattern but

still exceeded the 80% threshold with a few per-

centage points to spare. The effective management

of working capital, in particular, will remain a high

priority for us in 2001 and beyond.

C APITAL ALLOC AT ION

In addition to the performance measures described

above, we determine the allocation of capital within

the company with the support of a financial model

which relates the expected return on investment 

to the company’s weighted average cost of capital, 

the two most important components being the 

cost of equity and the cost of debt. This model is

used to appraise acquisition proposals as well as 

internal investments. We also employ it to analyse

the subsequent performance of major acquisitions

and investments. 

4 • UNDERLYING SALES GROWTH

Achieving superior growth in sales, from both 

established and emerging markets, is critical to

Pearson’s success. We exclude from our calculation

of sales growth the impact of acquisitions and

disposals on the one hand and currency movements

on the other. This gives us, we believe, the best

proxy for underlying growth.

We have accelerated Pearson’s underlying sales

growth in each of the past four years due largely to 

a programme of internal investment across the

company. At the same time we have changed the

mix in the overall Pearson portfolio towards higher

growth assets. Last year’s underlying sales growth of

9.2% was the highest on record.

5 • TRADING MARGIN

Trading margin measures our ability to turn 

sales into profit. Since the sales contribution of 

associates and passive investments is not included 

in our consolidated revenue, we also exclude their

profit contribution in arriving at a definition of

trading profit. 

The consistent strengthening of margins reflects

increased levels of profitability in each of our key

businesses. We believe that the FT Group, Pearson

Education and Penguin are now achieving margins

which are ‘best in class’ for their respective 

industries. The higher level of profitability reflects

both attention to costs and the impact of higher

sales growth on operating profit. 
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£542m

£115m

£38m

£125m

£264m

TOTAL GROWTH

PORTFOLIO CHANGES

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

INTERNET ENTERPRISES

UNDERLYING GROWTH

UNDERLYING SALES GROWTH ANALYSIS



We substantially accelerated the pace of investment

in our internet activities last year, although we also

remained very selective about the projects and

initiatives which we were prepared to support. The

impact of this higher investment can be seen in both

the sales and net investments attributable to our

internet enterprises in the course of 2000. 

Pearson’s internet enterprises are discrete services

which generate pure online revenues and which

incur costs that are capable of separate identifica-

tion. They are concentrated in the FT Group and

education, and an analysis of their performance in

1999 and 2000 is shown below:

The biggest area of investment last year was FT.com,

which spent heavily on marketing in order to raise

awareness of the brand. This strategy appears to

have been successful, with substantial growth 

in both unique monthly users and in monthly page

views (see page 28). We expect the net investment 

in FT.com to be substantially lower this year as

revenues, and particularly non-advertising related

revenues, should again show a dramatic increase,

while costs associated with marketing and tech-

nology support will be much lower.

Our principal initiative in the education field is

Learning Network, our consumer education portal.

Learning Network’s revenues were very small in

2000, as the portal was only launched towards the

end of the year. We expect a much higher level of

revenue in 2001 as Learning Network converts the

already very substantial level of traffic to the site into

customer relationships and revenue. 

The accelerated investment is already driving up

revenue in this area – last year internet enterprises

contributed revenues of £45m and we are looking 

for a good deal more this year. Our confidence in

the revenue growth prospects, coupled with our

ability to manage costs aggressively at short notice,

have encouraged us to project break-even for the FT

Group’s internet enterprises as early as the last

quarter of next year, and break-even for Learning

Network just 12 months after that. 

We have established a number of specific perform-

ance indicators for these businesses. We focus

heavily, for example, on the quality and loyalty of the

internet audience as measured by the number of

pages viewed during a visit, the average length of

stay on the site and the frequency of return visits. 

We set targets by reference to these indicators and

continue to fund the businesses only as the mile-

stones corresponding to these targets are achieved.

As these businesses become established and

demonstrate their viability, the more familiar and

traditional financial measures – revenue growth,

profit and loss, and cash performance – become

relevant and are used to assess performance. 

We have reported on the financial performance of

our internet enterprises as a separate item within

our operating profits, to provide greater trans-

parency to shareholders. The internet is becoming

increasingly integral to all our businesses. As our

internet enterprises mature the distinction between

them and our more established activities will

become less appropriate. 
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INTERNET ENTERPRISES



	 2000 	 1999 


REVEN UES 	 £45m	 	 £7m


NET I NVESTMENT  	 £(196)m	 	 £(39)m
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In 2000, sales grew from £3,332m to £3,874m and operating profit, before

goodwill, internet enterprises and integration costs, increased from £588m 

to £686m. 

Pre-tax profit, before goodwill, exceptional and non-operating items, fell from

£402m to £333m, as we stepped up investment in our internet enterprises. The net

costs of developing our internet enterprises increased from £39m in 1999 to

£196m, as we accelerated their path to profitability. The net costs of developing these

internet enterprises is expected to fall significantly in 2001.

The results also reflect a number of major strategic moves made during the year.

We completed the disposal of our stake in the Lazard banking houses for £436m.

We merged Pearson TV with CLT-Ufa and took a 22% stake in the RTL Group, which

is Europe’s largest television company and was valued at year-end at around £8bn.

We made the £1.7bn acquisition, financed by a rights issue, of NCS, one of the leading

commercial testing and educational services companies in the US. We acquired, for

£318m, Dorling Kindersley, the worldwide illustrated reference publisher. We also

made a number of smaller acquisitions and strategic investments. The net effect of

these portfolio changes, which will allow us to accelerate revenue and earnings

growth in 2001 and beyond, was to reduce operating profit by some £10m and 

pre-tax profit by around £20m in 2000.

THE RESULTS
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we have accelerated Pearson’s
underlying sales growth in each of
the past four years. Last year’s
underlying sales growth of 9.2%
was the highest on record.

SECTOR ANALYSIS
(£millions)

pearson education

ft group

penguin group

television

755

802

185

2,087

79

211

68

320

520
459

117

229

2,504

89

124

34 26

405

GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS
(£millions)

north america

europe

united kingdom

asia pacific

rest of the world

SALES
total £3,829m

PROFIT
total £678m

continuing operations before internet enterprises, goodwill and integration costs
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There has never been a better time to be in the business of education. While 

governments around the world invest more to educate their young people, individuals

devote more of their personal hours (and finances) to help their children and to

improve their own careers, earnings and life opportunities.

Over the past three years, through acquisitions, strategic alliances and organic

growth, we have created the world’s leading learning company. In the US, our largest

single market, our educational publishing operations play a key role in meeting the

demand for first-class curriculum, both in print and online. This market, valued at

some $8bn (a small proportion of the $740bn invested in education in the US each

year) is currently growing on average at around 8% per year.

With federal and state governments wanting both to measure academic progress

against clear standards and modernise their school systems, we are seeing faster

rates of growth in demand for testing and the enterprise software that powers 

many schools. The acquisition of NCS, completed in September 2000, means we 

can meet this demand and work with schools to embed assessment as part of the 

daily curriculum and to tailor learning to the needs of each student. And, as the 

internet becomes an integral part of both the home and the classroom, our 

Learning Network links teachers, parents and students in ways never possible before.

In addition, by facilitating ‘anytime, anywhere’ learning, it enables us to take a leading

role in the faster growing markets of online consumer learning and business

education and management development.

The trends in the US are also playing out in developed countries around the world.

In developing countries, school rolls are growing even more rapidly as an increasing

number of students stays on longer at school. And, around the world, ownership of

educational publishing and learning companies is often fragmented, creating major

opportunities for consolidation and growth. As the world’s most international

education company, we are in a very good position to capitalise on these trends.

We have all the pieces – the most comprehensive range of educational pro-

grammes, leadership in testing, assessment and enterprise software and the 

very best in online consumer and professional learning – to participate in the 

learning revolution, and to profit from the growth it brings to the business 

of education.

CL ASSROOM

INTERNET

CONNECTIVIT Y

PE AR SON EDUC AT ION • PROFILE
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Teachers and students are logging on. In the US, the number
of classrooms connected to the internet and the number of
computers per classroom are growing fast.
Source: Quality Education Data

STUDENTS PER

COMPUTER
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Over the past four years, through acquisitions and organic growth,
Pearson has become the world’s leading education company.

* full year pro forma sales including NCS

PEARSON EDUCATION

The acquisition of NCS has transformed Pearson Education

into the world’s leading integrated education company,

linking curriculum, assessment and data management. 

The NCS operations have been integrated into our US school,

US higher education & professional and international

businesses.

US school

We are the leading K-12 (kindergarten to 12th grade)

curriculum, testing and software company in the US. 

Our premier elementary (Scott Foresman) and secondary

(Prentice Hall) imprints publish some of the very best 

school programmes, covering subjects such as reading,

literature, math, science and social studies. We are a 

leading publisher of online assessment and digital course-

ware through NCSLearn (which combines Novanet with 

the Computer Curriculum Corporation) and the Waterford 

Early Reading Programme. We also publish supplementary

teaching aids for both elementary and secondary schools. 

We are one of the leading commercial testing companies in

the US, scoring and processing some 40 million student tests

across the US every year. And more than 40,000 of 

the 110,000 schools use at least one of our suite of 

student curriculum, instructional management and financial 

software packages.

US higher education & professional

We are the leading higher education publisher in the US, 

with imprints such as Addison Wesley, Allyn & Bacon and

Prentice Hall. We publish around one in three of all the 

text and online programmes studied on US campuses. Our

professional and technology group publishes leading

computer and information technology titles, with imprints

such as Addison Wesley, Adobe Press, Cisco Press, New

Riders, Peachpit, Prentice Hall, Que and Sams, complemented

by Informit.com, our online information technology service.

Our government solutions group manages and processes

student grant applications on behalf of the US Department of

Education and has a number of education related contracts

with various government departments.

International

We are a leading publisher of text and online programmes 

in school, higher education and professional markets in

countries all around the world. With our Longman imprint,

more people learn English as a second language with our

programmes than with those of any other publisher. We also

create, manage and process student tests in countries all

around the world. 

FT Knowledge

In July 2000, we acquired The Forum Corporation, one of the 

top corporate training companies in the US, for £61m. It has

combined with FT Knowledge to create one of the world’s

leading corporate training and elearning companies. The

combined business provides learning solutions and training

programmes in executive development, sales, customer

service, management, leadership and finance for both

corporations (our clients include 130 of the Fortune 500
companies) and individuals.

Learning Network

In September 2000, following the acquisition earlier in 

the year of Family Education Network for £96m (87% 

of the equity), we launched our Learning Network

(www.learningnetwork.com; America Online Keyword:

Learning Network). Learning Network is the leading consumer

education source on the web, providing educational content

and reference sources – as well as applications and services –

for teachers, school students, parents and anyone interested

in professional development and lifelong learning. By the

summer of 2001, Learning Network will offer similar services

to college professors and students.
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1998 SALES £702m
1997 SALES £563m

1996 SALES £554m

2000 SALES £2,398m*
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Sales at Pearson Education increased to £2,044m with underlying sales, held back by

softness in the consumer technology markets, increasing by 5.4%. Underlying profits,

boosted by integration benefits flowing through from the integration of the Simon &

Schuster and AWL education businesses, increased by 13.4%.

After becoming part of Pearson Education on September 8, NCS contributed revenues

of £146m and operating profit of £15m, meeting our revenue and profit expectations.

It benefited from its leadership both in student testing and delivering enterprise

software solutions to schools. The integration of NCS with Pearson Education is on

track to deliver $50m of annual cost savings by the end of 2002.

Our US school business increased sales by 10%, excluding revenues from NCS.

Building on a very strong performance in 1999, we made significant market share gains

in some key adoptions, benefiting from a range of new print and online programmes.

In secondary science, Prentice Hall School took a 40% share in the major state

adoptions including California and our new Scott Foresman reading programme grew

market share from less than 5% to approximately 25% nationwide. We also continued

to build on the success of our best selling math programmes and took the leading

position in secondary social studies.

The US higher education and professional business increased sales by 9% (excluding

revenues from NCS), gaining market share and growing margins. The college business

delivered particularly strong growth in math, computer sciences, history and 

developmental English and continued to invest in combined text and online

programmes. Its continued leadership in the college business helped to mitigate the

impact of weakness in the consumer IT publishing market.

The international business increased sales by 18% (excluding revenues from NCS). 

Our major international operations all reported double digit revenue growth, with 

particularly strong progress in Latin America and English language training. We

extended our lead in the international education market through a series of 

acquisitions in France, Brazil, Korea and Japan.

PE AR SON EDUC AT ION • PERFORMANCE
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Pearson Education stepped up its market share
in reading in the US with the launch of Scott
Foresman’s new programme.



2000 1999

PEARSON EDUC ATION £337m £265m

F T KNOWLEDGE  £(17)m £(8)m

TOTAL £320m £257m

I NTE RNET ENTE RPRISES £(83)m £(3)m

OPERATING PROFIT ANALYSIS

21

The integration of the Simon & Schuster and Addison Wesley Longman businesses 

is now completed and in 2001 is expected to deliver the projected $130m in annual

cost savings. In the two years since the acquisition of the Simon & Schuster education

businesses, our core US school and US college operations have increased revenues

by an average of 8% per year on an underlying basis.

FT Knowledge made sales of £43m and losses of £17m as it invested in developing its

corporate learning and executive education businesses in a market that is enjoying

rapid worldwide growth. FT Knowledge merged successfully with The Forum

Corporation; extended its financial training company, New York Institute of Finance,

to Europe and Asia; launched FTdynamo, an online service focusing on world-class

management thinking; and continued to develop online courses for the finance,

investment and marketing professions.

Learning Network was launched successfully in September and is now established as

one of the 50 most popular websites in the US. It is moving quickly to translate that

traffic into the revenues which will ensure it breaks even by the end of 2003. At the

same time, it is helping to drive revenue growth across Pearson’s businesses. 

Pearson Broadband, a new initiative to create interactive education television for 

K-12, higher education, professional and lifelong learning markets, will launch its first

products in 2001.
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Learning Network page views have
increased from 71 million to 134 
million in six months.

month views

SEPTE MBE R  71m

OCTOBE R 103m

NOVE MBE R 88m

DECE MBE R 71m

JAN UARY 121m

FEBRUARY 134m

us school

us higher education & professional

international

ft knowledge

446
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As one of the most innovative names in consumer publishing, Penguin continues to

seek to lead an industry valued at around $15bn and growing at around 4% per year.

Penguin aims to grow faster than the market by investing in great authors, targeting

higher growth segments (such as children’s publishing and illustrated reference) 

and building the Penguin brand, which is one of the most recognised media brands

in the world.

We are one of the premier English language publishers, ranking in the top two in

all our major markets. Three years ago, we set out to increase investment in

building a bigger family of best selling authors and developing a new generation of

literary talent. This investment is paying off with a record number of best selling

titles, more first novels making it on to the bestseller lists and a host of major literary

awards on both sides of the Atlantic.

We are also investing more in the technology and partnerships that enable us to

connect with our readers. By developing companion websites, promoting author

webcasts and forming online communities (around particular genres such as

romance, science fiction and mystery), we can form closer, more direct relationships

with our readers. This helps us to target our marketing, generating new sales across

Penguin. At the same time, we are looking to the future, taking our titles into 

ebook format with a range of partners.

However, the biggest change at Penguin over the last year has been the acquisition

of Dorling Kindersley, the world’s premier family illustrated reference publisher. It

gives us the ability to lift sales and profits as we bring Dorling Kindersley up to

Penguin’s best-in-class margins and use Penguin’s marketing and distribution

network to boost sales of Dorling Kindersley titles. We also aim to sprinkle the Dorling

Kindersley magic right across Pearson to enhance the appeal of some of Pearson

Education’s leading school programmes, enrich the Lifelong Learning channel of our

Learning Network and add to our new broadband education television properties.

It is one more example of how Penguin continues to follow new directions, finding

better ways of getting things done at every stage of the publishing process. As we

do so, we will focus on what we do best – publishing the very best books on any

subject in any format.

THE PENGUIN GROUP • PROFILE
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PENGUIN

Penguin is one of the world’s premier English language

publishers – number one in the UK, Australia, New Zealand

and India and number two in the US and Canada. It pub-

lishes the very best new fiction and non-fiction, literary

prize winners and commercial blockbusters on subjects

ranging from history and science to essential reference. Our

imprints include Allen Lane, Avery, Berkley Books, Dutton,

Hamish Hamilton, Michael Joseph, Plume, Putnam, Riverhead

and Viking.

Our venture into ebooks is just beginning and we are pursuing

a number of initiatives with our ebook fulfilment partner,

Lightning Source. We’ve also joined with Gemstar, makers of

ebooks, to distribute books by select best selling authors and

we have hundreds of Penguin titles already on pilot pro-

grammes at Rocketbook, Softbook and Peanut Press.

Children’s 

We are the world’s leading children’s publisher, helping

characters such as Peter Rabbit, The Little Engine That

Could and Spot capture the imagination of children all over

the world. Our children’s imprints include globally

recognised names such as Puffin, Frederick Warne, Dutton,

Grosset & Dunlap, Dial Books and Ladybird.

Classics

The world has not changed so much that the best literature

of several thousand years and countless cultures has lost its

relevance. From the first history of Herodotus to the novels

which shook the 20th Century, we are the leading publishers

of classic literature in the world. With over 1,600 titles

ranging from poetry to history, we have created the largest

online resource dedicated to the world’s classic literature at

penguinclassics.com.

Dorling Kindersley

We are now the world’s premier illustrated reference

publisher. Aiming to be a complete ‘cradle to grave’ pub-

lisher that families can grow up with, we produce books for

children of all ages and books for adults covering a huge

variety of subjects including childcare, health, gardening,

food and wine, travel, business and sports. Designed to

make complicated subjects simple, DK has built a unique

and attractive graphic style which is now recognised around

the world. Not only does our ‘lexigraphic’ design approach

make our books easily translatable across cultures, but 

it’s formed the basis of our library of 2.5 million wholly

owned digital images which have many applications – in

print or online.

In the UK, 39 Penguin titles reached the Bookseller
Booktrack top 15 bestseller list in 2000 – up 22%
on 1999.
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In the US, 106 titles hit the New
York Times bestseller list – up 56%
on 1999.
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The Penguin Group (or Penguin Putnam as we are known in the US) posted its 

best ever performance in 2000. Underlying sales increased by 6.2% and underlying

profits by 19.6%.

Penguin’s success was built on increased investment and development of new author

talent and established best selling authors such as Tom Clancy, Patricia Cornwell,

Clive Cussler, Spencer Johnson, Nora Roberts and many others.

In the US, Penguin Putnam achieved record revenues and profits and gained market

share across all categories – adult hardcover, mass market, trade paperback and

children’s books. It landed 106 titles on the New York Times bestsellers lists, up 56%

on 1999, including 13 titles that reached the number one position. Its adult

hardcover and paperback titles spent a total of 600 weeks on the New York Times

bestseller lists, up 36% on 1999. In the UK, Penguin had 39 titles in The Bookseller

Booktrack top 15, with best selling authors including Alex Garland, Jeremy Paxman,

Sue Townsend and Jamie Oliver, whose Return of the Naked Chef was the number

one book for 16 weeks.

Penguin titles won some of the most prestigious industry awards, including the

Whitbread Prize (Matthew Kneale’s English Passengers), the Whitbread first novel

award (Zadie Smith’s White Teeth) and, in the US, a National Book Award for Non-

fiction (Nathaniel Philbrick’s In the Heart of the Sea). Our US children’s publishing

division published titles that won the 2001 Caldecott Award (Judith St George and

David Small’s So you Want To be President?), the 2001 Newbery Award (Richard Peck’s 

A Year Down Yonder) and the 2001 Coretta Scott King Award (Joan Bauer’s Hope 

was Here). It is the first time a single publisher has ever won all three awards in 

the same year.
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THE PENGUIN GROUP • PERFORMANCE

£755m*

£79m*

£565m

£523m

£65m

£48m
* includes the Dorling Kindersley acquisition, completed on 9 May 2000. DK broke even on sales of £125m
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From the best cookery books to the most popular
fiction, penguin is always adding new authors to
its mix. In the US, four of our first-time authors
became mass market successes in 2000.
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DK’s library of 2.5 million beautiful
images opens up many opportunities
across Pearson

All the stars are aligned for an even stronger performance in 2001. We are publishing

a raft of new books this year by existing best selling authors – among them Patricia

Cornwell, Maeve Binchy, Amy Tan and Nick Hornby. Dorling Kindersley also has a

powerful line-up of new books. And we are continuing to step up investment in

publishing new authors. We are investing in online and ebook enterprises too,

focused on securing long-term growth opportunities and creating more direct 

relationships with our readers. During the year, we developed hundreds of new author

websites and staged interactive Yahoo! webcasts in the US with our best selling

authors.

The integration of Dorling Kindersley went to plan. We consolidated DK’s warehousing

with Penguin, merged the finance systems and combined the UK sales and marketing

functions. As a result, we have significantly improved operating efficiencies. We

steered the business to break even in 2000 and we expect significant revenue and

profit growth over the next few years. Dorling Kindersley is also opening new revenue

opportunities across Pearson, creating new printed and online learning materials

with Pearson Education and developing services for the lifelong learning market with

Learning Network and Pearson Broadband.
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THE FINANCIAL T IMES GROUP • PROFILE

With the rise of private investment, the increase in cross-border mergers, acquisi-

tions and alliances, and the globalisation of business and investment, there is ever

more demand for reliable business information and insight. While the US newspaper

industry is expected to grow at 6% from 2000 to 2004, the online financial news

sector is expected to grow at 15% per year (sources: Veronis Suhler/Simba). In

Europe, JP Morgan predicts that the number of people using online investment

services will grow from four million in 2000 to 18 million in 2003, an annual 

growth rate of 65%.

In 1997, convinced that the Financial Times was a very special international brand

with unique and valuable content, we began to invest heavily in its growth. We have

expanded internationally, launching a new edition for the US and extending our

network of print sites around the world. Building on our network of national

business newspapers, we have broken into new markets, with the launch of

Vedomosti in Russia and FT Deutschland in Germany. And, with FT.com at the heart

of our network of international business, investment and personal finance websites,

we are expanding both our audience and our range of products and services.

This investment is paying off handsomely, with our business newspapers reaching

record circulation and advertising growth and with our internet enterprises gaining

huge popularity and moving towards profitability in their own right.

The FT Group will grow by continuing to do what we do best: providing authorita-

tive news and analysis in a global context. We will continue to work hard both to

beat the competition to major international business stories, and to ensure our 

journalism meets the very high standards that our readers expect. We will continue

to provide the means by which many advertisers can communicate with a highly

attractive and ‘hard-to-reach’ audience of international business people. And we will

deliver the new premium products and services that will enable our customers to

manage their businesses, careers and investments more effectively.

awards are raining down on the Financial
Times Group’s newspapers and online services.
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Business information

FT Business produces specialist information on the retail,

personal and institutional finance industries. It publishes

the UK’s premier personal finance magazine, Investors

Chronicle, and The Banker, Money Management and Finan-

cial Adviser for professional advisers.

Private investor information

FTMarketWatch, a joint venture with CBSMarketWatch,

provides free, fast, incisive, real-time financial and market

news to Europe’s rapidly growing community of private

investors. The FT Group owns a 34% interest in CBS-

MarketWatch, whose web properties (BigCharts.com and

CBSMarketWatch.com) are the internet’s most popular 

destinations for financial market news.

Joint ventures and associates

We also have a number of other associates and joint

ventures, including:

• A 50% interest in The Economist Group, which publishes

the world’s leading weekly business and current affairs

journal;

• FTSE International, a joint venture with the London 

Stock Exchange;

• Vedomosti, Russia’s leading business newspaper and a

partnership venture with Dow Jones and Independent

Media;

• A 50% interest in BDFM, publishers of South Africa’s

leading financial newspaper and magazine.

FINANCIAL TIMES GROUP

The Financial Times Group, one of the world’s leading

business information companies, aims to provide a broad

range of business information, analysis and services to a

growing audience of internationally minded business

people. The Financial Times newspaper is printed in 18
cities around the world and has one of the world’s fastest

growing international readerships. FT.com, the news-

paper’s internet partner, combines agenda-setting editorial

with relevant financial data and discussion groups, as well as

a broad range of business tools including the largest search

function on the internet.

European business newspapers & online services

Our pan-European network of national business news-

papers and online services includes France’s leading

business newspaper and website, Les Echos and lesechos.fr,

and Spain’s leading business newspaper and website,

Expansión and Expansiondirecto.com. In February 2000 we

launched in partnership with Gruner + Jahr a new German

language newspaper, FT Deutschland, with a fully inte-

grated online business news and data service.

Securities and specialist financial information

Through a controlling interest in Data Broadcasting

Corporation, we are one of the world’s leading sources of

securities pricing and specialist financial information to

global institutional, professional and individual investors.

Our products include eSignal, an online real-time quotation

service for brokers and active traders.

European business people are twice as likely to read 
the FT as they are to read any other English language
business publication. 
Source: EBRS.d
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The Financial Times Group had an outstanding year, with underlying revenue

growing by 22% and underlying profit increasing by 40%. While circulation and 

advertising revenues hit record levels, we continued to invest in international

expansion and new print and online products and services. Our internet enterprises

also grew rapidly during the year, increasing revenues from £7m in 1999 to £42m

in 2000. They are on track to break even by the end of 2002, two years ahead of our

original expectations.

The Financial Times newspaper increased profits by 45% to £81m. Average daily sales

in December increased to 485,000, up 10% year on year. Worldwide advertising

revenues increased by 34%, with vigorous growth sustained throughout the year.

The newspaper continued its successful expansion into North America, with circu-

lation up 26% to 129,000. In the first two months of 2001, circulation and adver-

tising revenues continued to increase.

FT.com continued to grow rapidly and by January 2001 had 1.7 million unique

monthly users (up 55% on January 2000) and 39 million monthly page views (up 57%).

The Financial Times newspaper and FT.com now have integrated editorial, advertising

sales and support teams and a number of blue-chip international companies and

financial institutions have run integrated advertising campaigns across the FT

newspaper and FT.com. FT.com is also generating revenues by syndicating its content

to an increasing number of customers and developing a range of premium services.

FTMarketWatch was launched successfully in June. It performed in line with our expec-

tations, generating strong advertising and content licensing revenues. The business

expanded further with the launch of a German language site in November, targeting

Europe’s largest community of private investors.

Les Echos increased its circulation by 5% to a record 154,000, and increased 

advertising revenues by 37%. Its online service, lesechos.fr, built on its position as

France’s leading newspaper website and grew advertising revenues by 180%.

Lesechos.fr also established content partnership deals with a number of websites

and launched a new personal finance portal, mesfinances.fr.
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THE FINANCIAL T IMES GROUP • PERFORMANCE

£802m

£211m

£680m

£683m

£150m

£118m
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The success of the of the FT newspaper and FT.com
are intertwined, with circulation rising 10% to
485,000 and traffic to FT.com increasing by 55% 
to 1.7 million unique monthly users.
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Expansión grew its circulation to a new high of 63,000 and increased advertising

revenues by 41%. Expansiondirecto.com more than doubled traffic and increased

its advertising and e-commerce revenues.

FT Interactive Data, benefiting from the successful acquisition of Muller Data 

and subsequent merger with Data Broadcasting Corporation, enjoyed strong revenue 

and profit growth. FT Interactive Data streamlined its activities to focus on the 

institutional and retail businesses and, in the process, delivered earnings growth

ahead of our expectations at the time of the merger.

FT Business had a strong year, with many of its leading financial titles delivering

record revenues. Investors Chronicle grew its average sales by more than 20% to

75,000 copies and launched a new online service.

JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

The Economist Group, in which Pearson has a 50% interest, had another excellent

year and continued to invest in its two global brands, The Economist and CFO, both

in print and online. Circulation at The Economist newspaper continued to grow with

its worldwide circulation now averaging 762,000 copies, 5% higher than last year.

The newspaper also benefited from strong advertising revenues. The CFO business

also performed well and the international rollout of the CFO brand continues.

Profits from The Economist Group were more than offset by our share of the 

start-up costs of FT Deutschland, our joint venture with Gruner + Jahr. It reached 

a circulation of 66,000 just nine months after its launch and is running ahead of 

its advertising targets.

Business Day and Financial Mail, the South African titles in which we also own a

50% interest, maintained market share in a difficult economic environment. Average

circulation at Business Day for the six months to the end of December was stable

at approximately 44,000. 
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2000 1999

F T NEWSPAPE R  £81m £56m

F T I NTE RACTIVE DATA  £59m £31m

F T BUSI NE SS  £10m £1m

LES ECHOS  £29m £18m

F T BUSI NESSES SOLD  £(1)m £(2)m

RECOLETOS  £38m £34m

JOI NT VENTURES AND A SSOCIATES   £(5)m £12m

TOTAL £211m £150m

I NTE RNET ENTE RPRISES  £(113)m £(36)m

OPERATING PROFIT ANALYSIS

FT Deutschland, the first new national
newspaper launched in Germany for 50
years, grew in circulation from 0-66,000
in just nine months.
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We floated Recoletos on the Madrid stock
exchange, to provide more flexibility

to invest and e xpand into n ew markets.

Recoletos is a leading Spanish media group and is expanding both in Europe and

in Spanish and Portuguese-speaking markets around the world. We publish the

leading Spanish newspapers for business and sport as well as a number of lifestyle

and specialist magazines. With our partners, our newspaper titles sell around

900,000 copies a day and we sell some 500,000 copies of our weekly and monthly

magazines. Our websites draw over 90 million page views per month.

We publish Expansión and Expansiondirecto.com, Spain’s leading daily financial

newspaper and portal; Marca and Marca Digital, Europe’s most popular sports daily

and website; Telva, a leading women’s magazine; Diario Medico, the top medical

newspaper and other niche titles. We also own a 30% stake in Unedisa, publisher

of El Mundo, one of Spain’s leading daily newspapers, and a 50% stake in Economica,

publisher of Portugal’s leading business newspaper.

PERFORMANCE

In 2000, Recoletos increased underlying profits by 27% to £38m. In addition to the

strong performance of Expansión, Marca reached a circulation of 403,000, increased

advertising revenues by 16% and more than quadrupled traffic to its website Marca

Digital to 53 million monthly page views. El Mundo increased circulation to 292,000

and monthly page views to 43 million.

Recoletos also extended its position as Spain’s leading multimedia business by

winning licenses for digital free-to-air television and radio channels, which are being

rolled out in 2001. Outside Spain, Recoletos built its presence in Latin America with

the acquisition of El Cronista, Argentina’s most influential business and financial

newspaper. The public offering of 20% of Recoletos, completed in October, has

enhanced the company’s ability to move its business online and to expand in Spanish

and Portuguese-speaking markets around the world.
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RECOLETOS

£148m

£38m

£133m

£126m

£34m

£30m
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2000 HIGHLIGHTS

The year 2000 was a period of intense activity for Pearson financially as well 

as operationally. We issued nearly £2bn in new equity, the bulk of it through the 

largest rights issue on the UK record books. And we transformed several subsidiary 

organisations into publicly quoted companies over which we exert either voting

control or significant influence. 

The balance sheet that we present to shareholders this year has been considerably

strengthened by financial initiatives which have supported our public commitment

to a minimum credit rating of BBB+ during a period of heavy investment in both acqui-

sitions and organically grown enterprises.

PORTFOLIO CHANGES

We have managed the development of the Pearson portfolio over the past five years

with the twin objectives of achieving greater focus on a limited range of media activ-

ities and of securing a higher rate of sustainable growth for the whole company. Both

these objectives were achieved during 2000. The sale of our shareholdings in the

Lazard banking houses completed our withdrawal from non-media businesses, while

all of our acquisitions strengthened our core media franchises and created growth

opportunities for the future.

This portfolio strategy was executed at some short-term cost to earnings. The interest

receipts from the cash proceeds of Lazard did not match the historical profit contri-

bution of that investment, while the interest cost of acquiring Dorling Kindersley,

for example, was not mitigated by any offsetting contribution of profits during the

year of acquisition. We expect Dorling Kindersley to move into profit this year and

to achieve margins comparable with those of Penguin as a whole by 2003, but it is

a tribute to the underlying growth characteristics of our established businesses that

we were able to deliver double digit growth in earnings per share last year despite

these short-term portfolio effects.

PEARSON TELEVISION/RTL GROUP

Pearson TV’s merger with CLT-Ufa to create RTL Group was completed on 25 July 2000.

Pearson now holds a 22% interest in the merged business, which is listed on the

London Stock Exchange.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Up until 25 July, Pearson Television made sales of

£185m and contributed £32m in profits. Our share of

RTL Group’s unaudited profit for the remainder of

the year was £36m.

FINANCING

We concluded early in 2000 that our accelerating

investment in internet enterprises should be funded

at least in part by new equity. These new initiatives

offered greater growth opportunities, but also

carried greater risks, than more traditional media

investments, and we therefore considered it appro-

priate to finance their development with new equity.

We successfully completed an equity placing of

£250m in January of last year and earmarked the

proceeds for the internet. 

We returned to the equity market in August in order

to finance the acquisition of NCS for £1.7bn ($2.5bn)

in cash. Until the NCS transaction, Pearson’s acqui-

sition programme had successfully been funded

through a combination of disposals and additional

debt. NCS gave us the opportunity to strengthen

Pearson’s capital base in support of a large strategic

acquisition, and we raised all the funds required

through a 3-for-11 rights issue to existing share-

holders at a deep discount. The deep discount

allowed us to reduce the transaction costs associated

with the fund raising and the rights issue was well

received. The acquisition of NCS had a neutral effect

on earnings per share last year and should be

positive from 2001 onwards.

Earnings and dividends for 1999 and previous years

have been restated to reflect the bonus element of

the rights issue. 

C APITAL STRUCTURE

We also recognised last year that the growth oppor-

tunities of some of our businesses might best be

realised through a partnership with public markets.

Three of our companies finished the year with public

company status:

Pearson TV • The merger between Pearson TV (PTV)

and CLT-Ufa gave Pearson a 22% interest in RTL, a

new public company with its primary listing in

London. This transaction secured the future of PTV

within Europe’s largest free-to-air broadcasting

company and provided a significant uplift in value to

Pearson shareholders.

FT Interactive Data • In February of last year we

completed the merger between FT Interactive Data,

our information business serving the asset manage-

ment industry, and Data Broadcasting Company

(DBC), a NASDAQ-quoted company with complemen-

tary interests in financial information. Pearson now

owns 60% of this successfully combined company.

Recoletos • Our Spanish media company floated on

the Madrid Stock Exchange in October of last year.

Pearson sold 20% of its interest at that time in order

to provide Recoletos with the financial means to

develop its strategy in new media markets and in

Latin America.

While we do not expect any change in the status of

our three principal operating divisions – FT Group,

Penguin and Pearson Education – we see advan-

tages in a more flexible approach to our capital

structure so long as we can address the administra-

tive and governance issues which arise. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT I N UE D)
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NYSE LISTING

We took the decision last year to list the company’s

shares on the New York Stock Exchange. This has

increased the compliance burden on the company, as

we are now registered with the US Securities &

Exchange Commission and required to file our

results in accordance with US GAAP, but it does allow

us greater headroom in the development of share-

based incentives for our 13,000 US employees. Our

US colleagues and shareholders are also now able to

follow the fortunes of the Pearson share price in a

currency and format with which they are familiar. 

DIVIDEND POLICY

The company seeks to maintain a balance between

the requirement of our shareholders, including our

many private shareholders, for a rising stream of

dividend income and the reinvestment opportunities

that we see across the Group. This balance has been

expressed in recent years as a commitment to

increase our annual dividend faster than the

prevailing rate of inflation while progressively re-

investing a higher proportion of our distributable

earnings in the business. We have also pegged 

the growth in our dividend to earnings before

internet enterprises in order to reassure share-

holders that their dividend will be protected during

a period of exceptional investment. The 21.4p

dividend that we are recommending in respect of

2000 is consistent with that policy. It represents an

increase of 6.5% on the adjusted 1999 dividend and

is covered 2.6 times by adjusted before internet

earnings per share, although only 1.5 times by

earnings after internet investment. We expect to

maintain this balance between dividend growth and

investment in 2001 and beyond.

ACCOUNTING DISCLOSURES AND POLICIES

We have expanded the description of our accounting

policies this year in order to clarify the presentation

of certain costs and balance sheet values specific to

the publishing industry. These include our treatment

of pre-publication costs, royalty advances and

newspaper development costs. The notes to the

accounts have also been expanded to provide

separate identification of these items. The signifi-

cant accounting policies of the group are shown on

pages 62 and 63.

During the year we have adopted FRS 16, a standard

relating to current tax. The main impact of this

standard is to reflect UK dividend income net of UK

tax credits. The new standard on tangible fixed

assets, FRS 15, has also been adopted, although its

impact on results and disclosures is not material.
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INTERPRETING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This section is designed to provide shareholders

with background narrative on key elements of

Pearson’s financial statements.

INTEGRATION COSTS AND FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

Integration costs represent the cost of integrating

our significant acquisitions into our existing 

businesses. These costs are separately identified

and are excluded from our calculation of adjusted

earnings. In 2000 £40m of integration costs were

incurred, of which £27m related to the integration 

of Dorling Kindersley into the Penguin Group. In

addition a further £9m was charged in respect of

the Simon & Schuster acquisition, representing the

final part of the integration process, and £4m was

charged in respect of the NCS acquisition.

Provisional fair value adjustments amounting to £70m

have been made to the net assets of the businesses

acquired in the year. The most significant adjust-

ments have been to harmonise certain Dorling

Kindersley accounting policies with those of

Penguin, together with the increase to market value

of the carrying value of CBSMarketwatch, following

the combining of the FT Interactive Data business

with DBC.

GOODWILL AMORTISATION 

The amortisation charge for goodwill, the difference

between the price paid and the fair value of the net

assets acquired, amounted to £239m in the year

compared with £131m in 1999. This increase reflects

the significant acquisitions made in the year, partic-

ularly Dorling Kindersley and NCS, and the combining

of FT Interactive Data with DBC and our television

business with CLT-Ufa to form the RTL Group.

NON-OPERATING ITEMS 

Non-operating items remained significant in 2000

reflecting the sale of Lazard, which resulted in a non-

operating profit of £231m, and the initial public

offering of 20% of Recoletos, which resulted in a

non-operating profit of £86m.

INTEREST

Net interest rose by £10m to £157m, with average

net debt remaining largely constant. This increase in

interest cost followed a general rise in interest rates

during the year. A weighted three month LIBOR rate,

reflecting the Group’s borrowings in US dollars,

euros, and sterling, rose by 110 basis points, or

1.1%. The effect of these rises on the Group was

mitigated by its existing portfolio of interest rate

swaps, which converted over half of its variable rate
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	  	 accounting	 	 

	  	 policy	  	 provisional

	 book value 	 alignment	 revaluations	 fair value 	 


FIXED A SSETS  	 20	 	 (1)	 	 (7)	 	 12 


WORKI NG C APITAL 	 27	 	 (36)	 	 (19)	 	 (28) 


OTHE R  	 (50) 	 	 –– 	 	 (1)	 	 (51) 


TOTAL 	 (3)	 	 (37)	 	 (27)	 	 (67)

DORLING KINDERSLEY PROVISIONAL FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS
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Turning to the tax rate on adjusted earnings, this

fell from 25% to 23%. As in 1999, the availability of

tax losses in the consolidated tax group in the US

meant that only a very limited tax provision was

required on the Group’s profits there, and this factor

was again the largest single item accounting for the

difference between the UK statutory rate and the

effective rate on adjusted earnings. The effect was,

however, diluted this year by the fact that DBC and

its subsidiaries, including FT Interactive Data, are

outside the consolidated tax group and as such their

profits are not covered by the Group’s US losses. As

indicated in the analysis in note 8 on page 68, other

factors, which had an adverse effect last year, were

favourable to us this year. This largely reflected

progress during the year in agreement of the

company’s affairs with the tax authorities.

MINORITIES

Minorities reflect the 20% interest in Recoletos

following the initial public offering in September

2000 and the 40% interest in DBC following the

combining of our asset valuation business with DBC

in February 2000.

OTHER NET ASSETS

TOTAL

TOTAL

WORKING CAPITAL

TANGIBLE ASSETS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

PROVISIONS & MINORITIES

NET DEBT

NET TRADING ASSETS

CAPITAL EMPLOYED

£4,522m

£6,776m

£6,776m

£4,044m

£2,301m

£524m

£829m

£901m

£431m

commercial paper and bank debt to a fixed rate

basis. As a result, the Group’s net interest rate

payable averaged approximately 6.9%, rising 0.5%

from the previous year.

TAXATION

The tax charge of £106m represents 37% of profit

before taxation of £284m. Although the absolute

amount of the tax charge was lower than in 1999,

reflecting the reduced profit before taxation, the

effective rate was little changed. There is limited tax

relief available on goodwill amortisation, and this is

the main reason why the effective tax rate is higher

than the UK statutory rate of 30%. Profit before

taxation was, of course, materially affected in 2000

by the increased losses from internet enterprises. To

the extent that losses arose in the US we have

generally not recognised tax relief given the existing

tax losses available there. This factor was more than

offset by the fact that the tax charge on non-

operating profits was rather lower than the UK rate.

This in turn largely reflected the fact that there was

a relatively low effective rate of tax on the profit on

disposal of our Lazard interests. In addition, inte-

gration costs, on which limited tax relief has been

taken, were significantly lower in 2000 than in 1999.



MANAGING OUR FINANCIAL RISKS

This section explains the Group’s approach to the

management of financial risk. 

TREASURY POLICY

The Group holds financial instruments for two

principal purposes: to finance its operations and to

manage the interest rate and currency risks arising

from its operations and its sources of finance. The

Group finances its operations by a mixture of cash

flows from operations, short-term borrowings from

banks and commercial paper markets, and longer

term loans from banks and capital markets. The

Group borrows principally in US dollars, euros and

sterling, at both floating and fixed rates of interest,

using derivatives, where appropriate, to generate

the desired effective currency profile and interest

rate basis. The derivatives used for this purpose are

principally interest rate swaps, interest rate caps

and collars, currency swaps and forward foreign

exchange contracts.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial

instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity and 

refinancing risk, counterparty risk and foreign

currency risk. These risks are managed by the group

finance director under policies approved by the

board which are summarised below. These policies

have remained unchanged, except as disclosed,

since the beginning of 2000. A treasury committee of

the board receives reports on the Group’s treasury

activities, policies and procedures, which are

reviewed periodically by a group of external profes-

sional advisers. The treasury department is not a

profit centre, and its activities are subject to audit.

interest rate risk • The Group’s exposure to interest

rate fluctuations on its borrowings is managed by

borrowing on a fixed rate basis and by entering into

interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and forward

rate agreements. In December 2000 the Group

amended its policy objective to set a target pro-

portion of its forecast borrowings (taken at the year

end, with cash netted against floating rate debt) to

be hedged (i.e. fixed or capped) over the next four

years of 50% to 65% for the first two years, and 40%

to 60% for the next two years. At the end of 2000 that

ratio was 54%. On that basis, a 1% change in the

Group’s variable rate US dollar, euro and sterling

interest rates would have a £10m effect on profit

before tax.

liquidity and refinancing risk • The Group’s objective

is to procure continuity of funding at a reasonable

cost. To do this it seeks to arrange committed

funding for a variety of maturities from a diversity of

sources. In May 2000 the Group amended its policy

objectives so that the weighted average maturity of

its core gross borrowings (treating short-term
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	 2000 	 1999 


FIXED RATE 	 £1,239m	 	 £1,155m


FLOATI NG RATE  	 £1,062m	 	 £840m


NET BORROWINGS FIXED AND FLOATING RATES
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advances as having the final maturity of the facilities

available to refinance them) should be between

three and ten years, and that bank and non-bank

sources should each provide at least £250m of such

core gross borrowings.

In February 2000 the Group issued €650m of bonds

due 2007. In July 2000 it put in place a $2,500m

syndicated bank facility maturing in 2005, which

replaced a similar facility maturing in 2003. As a

result, at the end of 2000 the average maturity of

gross borrowings was 5.6 years and non-banks

provided £1,565m (56%) of them (up from 5.1 years

and 46% respectively at the beginning of the year).

The proceeds of the bond issue were used to repay

part of the group’s syndicated bank facility.

The Group believes that ready access to different

funding markets also helps to reduce its liquidity

risk, and that published credit ratings and published

financial policies improve such access. The Group

manages the amount of its net debt, and the level of

its net interest cover, principally by the use of a

target range for net interest cover. All of the Group’s

credit ratings remained unchanged during the year.

The long-term ratings are Baa1 from Moody’s and

BBB+ from Standard & Poor’s, and the short-term

ratings are P2 and A2 respectively. The Group

continues to operate on the basis that the board

will take such action as is necessary to support and

protect its current credit ratings. The Group also

maintains undrawn committed borrowing facilities.

At the end of 2000 these amounted to £609m, and

their weighted average maturity was 4.5 years.

counterparty risk • The Group’s risk of loss on

deposits or derivative contracts with individual

banks is managed in part through the use of coun-

terparty limits. These limits, which take published

credit limits (among other things) into account, are

approved by the group finance director. In addition,

for certain longer dated higher value derivative

contracts the Group has entered into mark to market

agreements whose effect is to reduce significantly

the counterparty risk of the relevant transactions.

currency risk • Although the Group is based in the UK,

it has a significant investment in overseas opera-

tions. The most significant currency for the Group is

the US dollar, followed by the euro and sterling.

The Group’s policy during the year on routine 

transactional conversions between currencies (for

example, the collection of receivables, and the

£(198)m

£(61)m

£1,959m

£550m

£580m

£(567)m

£(2,569)m

I NTE RNET ENTE RPRISES

I NTEGRATION COSTS

NEW EQUIT Y

DISPOSALS

C A SH FROM OPE RATION S

I NTE REST,  TA X ATION,  DIVIDENDS AND OTHE R

ACQUISITION S

CASH INFLOW – OPENING NET DEBT £(1,995)m

CASH OUTFLOW – CLOSING NET DEBT £(2,301)m





	 2000 	 1999 


BANK DEBT 	 £1,252m	 	 £1,254m


BONDS 	 £1,565m	 	 £1,069m


US DOLL ARS 	 £1,782m	 	 £1,795m


STE RLI NG 	 £587m	 	 £280m


EURO 	 £417m	 	 £248m


OTHE R 	 £31m	 	 —


GROSS BORROWINGS

GROSS BORROWINGS BY CURRENCY
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settlement of payables or interest) remained that

these should be effected at the relevant spot

exchange rate. As in previous years, no unremitted

profits were hedged with foreign exchange contracts.

The Group’s policy is to align approximately the

currency composition of its core borrowings in US

dollars, euros and sterling with the split between

those currencies of its forecast operating profit. This

policy aims to dampen the impact of changes in

foreign exchange rates on consolidated interest

cover and earnings. Long-term core borrowing is

now limited to these three major currencies.

However, the Group still borrows small amounts in

other currencies, typically for seasonal working

capital needs.

At the year end the split of aggregate net borrow-

ings in its three core currencies was US dollar 63%, 

euro 14% and sterling 23%. These figures differed

from the split of forecast operating profit, primarily

because of temporary balances relating to the

Pearson Television/RTL Group transaction and the

Recoletos initial public offering.



BOARD OF DIRECTOR S

CHAIRMAN

Lord Stevenson • chairman, aged 55, has been a non-executive director of Pearson since 1986 and became executive

chairman in 1997. He is also chairman of Halifax plc and a non-executive director of Manpower Inc. in the US.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Marjorie Scardino • chief executive, aged 54, joined the Pearson board in January 1997. She trained and practised as a

lawyer, and published a weekly newspaper in the US. In 1985 she joined The Economist Group as president of its North

American operations and was its chief executive from 1993 until joining Pearson. She is also a non-executive director of

ConAgra Inc.

David Bell • director for people, aged 54, became a director of Pearson in March 1996. He is chairman of the Financial Times

Group, having been chief executive of the Financial Times from 1993 to 1998. In July 1998 he was appointed Pearson’s

director for people with responsibility for the recruitment, motivation, development and reward of employees across the

Pearson Group. He is also a non-executive director of VITEC Group plc and Zen Research plc and chairman of the Millennium

Bridge Trust.

John Makinson • finance director, aged 46, joined the Pearson board and became finance director in March 1996. From 1994

to 1996 he was managing director of the Financial Times, and prior to that he founded and managed the investor relations

firm Makinson Cowell. He is also a non-executive director of George Weston Limited in Canada.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lord Burns*† • aged 56, was the government’s chief economic adviser from 1980 until 1991 and Permanent Secretary of

HM Treasury from 1991 until 1998. He is a non-executive director of Legal & General Group plc and The British Land

Company PLC and non-executive chairman of Glas Cymru Limited. He was appointed a non-executive director of Pearson

in May 1999.

Gill Lewis† • aged 57, is the managing partner of Heidrick & Struggles in the UK and in the Republic of Ireland. She became

a non-executive director of Pearson in 1992.

Reuben Mark*† • aged 62, is chairman and chief executive of the Colgate Palmolive Company and a director of Citigroup

Inc. and AOL Time Warner Inc. He became a non-executive director of Pearson in 1988.

Vernon Sankey* • aged 51, is non-executive chairman of Gala Group Holdings plc and non-executive deputy chairman 

of Photo-Me International plc and Beltpacker plc. He is also a non-executive director of Zurich Financial Services AG. 

He became a non-executive director of Pearson in 1993.

Rana Talwar • aged 52, is group chief executive of Standard Chartered plc. He became a non-executive director of Pearson

in March 2000.

* a member of the audit committee.
† a member of the personnel committee.
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DIRECTOR S’ REPORT

The directors are pleased to present their report to shareholders, together with the financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2000 on pages 56 to 60 and 62 to 97. Details of the businesses, the development of the Group and its

subsidiaries and likely future developments are given on pages 11 to 30 of this annual report. Sales and profits of the

different sectors and geographical markets are given on pages 64 and 65.

Results and dividend • The profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2000 was £179m (1999: £294m). The profit

retained for the year was £15m (1999: £156m) and has been transferred to reserves. A final dividend of 13.2p per share

is recommended for the year ended 31 December 2000. This, together with the interim dividend already paid, makes a total

for the year of 21.4p (1999: 20.1p). The final dividend will be paid on 1 June 2001 to shareholders on the register at the

close of business on 16 March 2001, the record date.

Significant acquisitions and disposals • Details of these transactions can be found in notes 27 and 28 to the accounts

on pages 86 to 91.

Transactions with related parties • Details of transactions with related parties, which are reportable under FRS 8, are given

in note 32 to the accounts on page 94.

Capital expenditure • The analysis of capital expenditure and details of capital commitments are shown in note 13 to the

accounts on page 72.

Directors • The present members of the board, together with their biographical details, are shown on page 39. Michel David-

Weill and David Verey resigned as directors on 3 March 2000. Rana Talwar was appointed a non-executive director on

20 March 2000. Details of directors’ remuneration and interests in ordinary shares and options of the company are

contained in the personnel committee report on pages 47 to 54. Three directors, David Bell, John Makinson and Vernon

Sankey, will retire by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 27 April 2001. All three, being eligible,

will offer themselves for re-election. Details of directors’ service contracts can be found on page 49. No director was

materially interested in any contract of significance to the company’s business.

Corporate governance • The board supports the principles of good governance and code of best practice expressed in the

Combined Code (the Code) published in June 1998. This directors’ report, including the personnel committee report which

has been considered and adopted by the board, describes how the company has applied such principles and, apart from

the two following exceptions, has complied with the provisions set out in section 1 of the Code. Given the small size of the

board and the calibre and experience of the non-executive directors, the board does not believe the identification of a senior

independent director is appropriate. Also, the board does not have a nomination committee for directors as it considers

that the most formal and transparent procedure for the appointment of a new director is for this to be a matter for the 

whole board. 

The board • The board currently comprises four executive directors, including the chairman, who is part-time, and five non-

executive directors. All of the non-executive directors are independent of management and free from any business or other

relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

The board schedules six meetings each year and arranges to meet at other times as appropriate. There is a formal schedule

of matters specifically reserved to the board for decision and approval, and the board is supplied in a timely manner with

the necessary information to discharge its duties. A procedure exists for directors to seek independent professional advice

in the furtherance of their duties, and all directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary.

Board committees • The board of directors has established the following committees all of which have written terms of

reference setting out their authority and duties:

i Audit committee • This committee is chaired by Vernon Sankey and its other members are Terry Burns and Reuben Mark.

All are non-executive directors. The committee provides the board with the means to appraise Pearson’s financial

management and reporting, and to assess the integrity of the Group’s accounting procedures and financial controls. The

Group’s internal and external auditors have direct access to the committee to raise any matter of concern and to report the

results of work directed by the committee. The committee reports to the full board of Pearson.
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ii Personnel committee • This committee is chaired by Gill Lewis and its other members are Terry Burns and Reuben Mark.

All are non-executive directors. The committee meets regularly to decide the remuneration and benefits packages of the

executive directors and the chief executives of the main operating companies, as well as recommending the chairman’s

remuneration to the board for its decision. It also reviews the Group’s management development and succession plans.

The committee reports to the full board and its report, which has been considered and adopted by the board, is set out on

pages 47 to 54.

iii Treasury committee • This committee comprises Dennis Stevenson, John Makinson, Vernon Sankey and Rana Talwar.

The committee sets the policies for the company’s treasury department and reviews its procedures on a regular basis.

Internal control • Following the publication of guidance from the Turnbull Committee and its incorporation into the Listing

Rules of the UK Listing Authority, the directors reviewed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control processes in

the light of the provisions of the Combined Code. There is now an ongoing process which has been in place during 2000

and up to the date of the approval of this annual report that is embedded into the company’s integrated system of internal

control, together with a formal reporting process to the board. The process accords with provision D.2.1 of the Combined Code.

The directors require the operating companies to undertake at least annual reviews to identify new or potentially under-

managed risks. The results from these reviews are monitored within the existing quarterly reporting and annual budgeting

processes. Annually, the Group control department provides a report to executive management and to the board. This

system allows the board to report on the internal controls in accordance with the Financial Services Authority requirements.

The directors consider that the Group’s system of internal control is appropriately designed to provide reasonable but not

absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The main elements of this risk identification and internal control

process are as follows:

i Board • The board of directors has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its

effectiveness, which it exercises through an organisational structure with clearly defined levels of responsibility and

authority and appropriate reporting procedures. The board meets regularly and has a regular schedule of matters that are

brought to it or its duly authorised committees for decision, aimed at maintaining effective control over strategic, financial,

operational and compliance issues. This structure includes the audit committee which, with the finance director, reviews

the effectiveness of the internal financial and operating control environment of the Group. The audit committee meets

regularly and considers, inter alia, reports from internal and external auditors covering such matters.

ii Operating company controls • The identification and mitigation of major business risks is the responsibility of operating

management. Each operating company maintains controls and procedures appropriate to its own business environment

while conforming to Group standards and guidelines. These include procedures to identify and then mitigate all types of

risks. The risks and mitigating actions are reported to the board through the quarterly reporting process.

iii Financial reporting • There is a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget approved by the board of

directors. Monthly financial information, including balance sheets, cash flow statements, trading results and indebtedness,

are reported against the corresponding figures for the budget and the previous year, with corrective action being taken by

the directors as appropriate. In addition, these reports contain summary information of the major risks facing the operating

companies, as well as the actions needed or taken either to mitigate or to take advantage of them.

iv Treasury management • The treasury department operates within policies approved by the board, and its procedures

are reviewed regularly by the treasury committee. Major transactions are authorised outside the department at the requisite

level and there is an appropriate segregation of duties. Frequent reports are made to the finance director and regular reports

are prepared for the treasury committee.

v Group control • The Group control department has the central responsibility for risk control and internal audit which it

exercises through teams located both in the UK and the US. The department reviews risks, processes and procedures in

all main operating companies, agrees with operating companies their plans to eliminate or mitigate risks where possible,

and to improve controls and processes. It monitors operating companies’ progress and reports regularly to executive

management and the audit committee and annually to the board.

41
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vi Insurance • Insurance cover is provided either through Pearson’s captive insurance subsidiary or externally, depending

on the scale of the risk in question and the availability of cover in the external market.

Going concern • Having reviewed the Group’s liquid resources and borrowing facilities, and the 2001 and 2002 cash flow

forecasts contained in the Group budget for 2001, the directors believe that the Group and the company have adequate

resources to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the financial statements have, as usual,

been prepared on a going concern basis.

Shareholder communication • Management continues to develop, increase and improve communication with shareholders,

large and small, institutional and private. This year’s AGM will again include information about the Group’s businesses, as

well as the 2000 results and general AGM business. The company’s website (www.pearson.com) includes a section focusing

specifically on investor relations. We post all company announcements on the website as soon as they are made, and, where

possible, we webcast all major investor presentations. In addition, Pearson has developed comprehensive programmes for

communicating with institutional investors and with employee shareholders.

People • We have made good progress in the past year towards our goal of being the best employer in the world, though

there is still a lot more to do.

On average there were 24,688 people in the company last year working in more than 60 countries. Almost all of them now

own shares in Pearson; and many are saving to acquire more. We have expanded our training programmes at all levels and

in all our companies, launched a new Pearson MBA in partnership with Duke University in North Carolina and introduced

a new programme which makes it much easier for people to move between countries and between our companies.

This progress has been reflected in several surveys on both sides of the Atlantic in the past year. We were very pleased,

for example, to be placed in the Top 100 Best Places to Work by the US magazine Working Mother. And earlier this year

the British Sunday Times selected Pearson as the best place to work among the UK’s top 100 companies. Partly for these

reasons we have also had a steadily increasing number of high quality job applicants at all our businesses.

i Employment • The employment policies of the Group embody the principles of equal opportunity and are designed to

meet the needs of operating companies and comply with local regulations in their areas of operation. The sole criterion

for selection, training, development and promotion is the individual’s suitability for the position of employment offered and

his or her aptitudes and abilities. The company takes seriously its statutory obligations relating to disabled persons and

seeks not to discriminate against current or prospective employees with disabilities because of a reason relating to their

disability. Consideration is given to making reasonable adjustments to premises, or employment arrangements, if these

substantially disadvantage a disabled employee, or prospective employee, compared to an able-bodied person.

ii Training and development • Pearson’s commitment to training and development has further strengthened during 2000

with increased activities involving more people across the company and greater involvement from the individual businesses.

With a core curriculum established in 1999, the portfolio has been extended to reflect Pearson’s growing international

population and now includes programmes in Europe, the US, Asia and Australia with further plans to focus on South

America in 2001.

Pearson’s Senior Management Programme has now taken place at INSEAD in France and Singapore as well as Harvard

Business School. It has created a powerful team of top management better equipped to meet the challenge of change in

their businesses. Regular skill updates for management cover leadership, finance, personal performance and project

management with coaching and mentoring programmes in place at all levels.

In February 2000 Pearson brought together for the first time over 100 high potential people to work with top management

on innovation and strategy, resulting in a CEO-led initiative offering the opportunity for individuals to participate in

developing their own new business models. This initial event, FORUM 2000, has had a significant impact on the motivation

and retention of key talent and, with FORUM 2001 bringing together a further 140 people, this will become a regular and

critical key personal and organisational development event for Pearson.
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In partnership with a leading US business school Pearson has sponsored ten managers on a new international MBA that

minimises time away from work and maximises on-line study and tutoring. The well established Pearson graduate training

scheme has been extended and further internationalised to enable newly qualified individuals from Pearson operating

companies across the world to come to Europe to work on specific projects and to participate in management training before

taking up positions in their home country.

The sharing of skills and expertise in the company is greatly enhanced through the adoption of a systematic and company

wide process for moving individuals across businesses. Linked to personal development this offers the opportunity for

people at all stages of their career to experience new and challenging environments. A central training facility at the new

corporate centre will offer advice on career management and provide inter-cultural programmes as well as core skills and

management development.

iii Employee participation • Share ownership lies at the heart of Pearson’s remuneration philosophy and the directors

believe that the very best way for our people to profit from Pearson’s success is for them to become shareholders. Pearson

operates both worldwide profit sharing and share acquisition plans in over 60 countries. For 2000, eligible employees, who

make up the majority of all employees, will receive an award of 15 Pearson shares under a Group profit sharing plan. With

more than half our people in the US, we have taken special care to make it easier for them to acquire shares in Pearson.

The listing of our shares on the New York Stock Exchange in 2000 allowed us to launch a new US Employee Stock Purchase

Plan which makes owning shares in Pearson more accessible to the majority of our employees.

iv Employee communication • Employee communication continues to be developed through regular Group-wide

communication from the chief executive, Marjorie Scardino; wide-ranging presentations to staff around the world in

connection with the publication of Pearson’s results or other important events; the distribution of PearsonNow, the

employee magazine; Pearsonville, the Group-wide intranet; and reports to participants in the various benefit plans. The

various operating companies also have their own channels of communication such as briefing groups, videos, magazines

and newsletters.

v European employee forum • Pearson has established a European Employee Forum with elected representatives from each

of the Group’s main operating companies and from countries in Europe where the Group’s operations are of significant scale.

The forum is intended to provide an arena for the exchange of relevant and appropriate information and to establish a

constructive dialogue between management and employees on transnational issues which affect them. Two meetings of

the forum were held in 2000.

Labour standards and human rights • During 2000, Pearson, along with other companies, signed a ‘global compact’ at

the United Nations which sets out a series of principles on labour standards, human rights and the environment. Over the

course of 2001 we are putting in place the ways to monitor our performance against these principles, and we will report

on our progress in future years.

Some of the UN principles concern the environment and are covered by our environmental policy. Others refer to labour

standards and human rights. They are:

Labour standards

• Freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining.

• The elimination of all forms of compulsory labour.

• The abolition of child labour.

• The elimination of discrimination in employment and occupation.

Human rights

• To support and respect international human rights within our sphere of influence.

• To ensure that we are not complicit in human rights abuses.
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The following guidelines reflect the UN principles and show our key commitments:

i Labour standards

• We try to offer equal employment opportunities to all. The people we recruit and promote are selected on merit and

suitability, and will not be discriminated against because of gender, race, origin, background, religion, marital status,

sexual orientation, age or political affiliation. 

• We aim to comply with the relevant laws relating to employment and employment conditions in each country where we

operate. Where such laws are lacking, we will introduce our own guidelines. Subject to any laws, we fully support the

right of our people to freedom of association, collective bargaining and representation either through trades unions,

works councils, or any other appropriate forum.

• We recognise that labour standards and conditions may vary from country to country. Pearson companies conduct

business in many of the poorer countries of the world where living standards are low. Different attitudes to both adult

and child labour prevail. Where Pearson companies directly control their activities in a country, we will ensure that our

people have satisfactory wages and working conditions, and that there is no exploitation of labour. Working terms will

take account of local economies.

• In addition we will expect those who provide us with goods and services to assure, and if necessary demonstrate to us,

that their businesses at least comply with the UN standards set out above. We also expect third party suppliers to

provide satisfactory working conditions for their employees.

• We will advise third party suppliers that we will positively support their efforts to comply with our guidelines to enable

them broadly to adhere to the UN ‘global compact’, and we will expect them to do so within an agreed time frame.

• Operating in low cost environments has a financial benefit. It also carries a social responsibility. Any improvement in

working conditions or pay agreed with a local supplier has to be pursued with care. There may be occasions when to insist

on instant change could lead to instant and damaging unemployment; or it could create ‘underground’ employment which

would be infinitely more dangerous and totally unregulated. In such instances, Pearson will agree a timetable for steady

and sustained improvement.

• We recognise that there are great social, educational, health or safety problems in areas of the world where we do business

and which affect our people. We will help, wherever possible, to educate our people in the workplace about such risks.

• We aim to prohibit physical and verbal abuse, or the threat of it, and any other form of intimidation within our workforce.

• In each country, our local subsidiary will be responsible for monitoring activity annually. These reports will be submitted

to the director for people at Pearson by 31 January each year.

ii Human rights

Pearson companies and people operate globally. Our products are produced and manufactured across the world and sold

in many countries, often by companies we do not own which are operating on our behalf. We will, in the course of conducting

business in ‘high risk areas’, ensure that we are not complicit in human rights abuses. This assurance can only come with

regular monitoring. If we were to find ourselves inadvertently implicated in abuses of human rights, we would take

immediate steps to rectify such a situation.

iii Board responsibility

David Bell, as director for people, is the board director with overall responsibility for these issues.

Environmental policy • Pearson has had an environmental policy since 1992. In an ever-changing world, environmental

issues concern the company and its shareholders, customers, staff and the general public alike. During 2000, we reviewed

our policy and concluded that, although most of the original principles were still valid, we needed to enhance our efforts

and measure them better.
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Pearson does not directly operate in industries where there is a potential for serious industrial pollution. Our main products

are based on intellectual property. However, in our normal operations we do things that have an impact on the environment

in many ways.

The following policy guidelines show the principal commitments we have set for ourselves:

• We seek to comply with the relevant environmental laws and regulations applicable in each country in which we operate.

• We work with regulatory agencies and advisers as necessary in the implementation of effective environmental policies,

and, where no regulations exist, we set our own guidelines.

• We take account of environmental issues when placing contracts with suppliers of goods and services.

• We will continue to introduce energy efficient systems into our buildings and to manage sensibly our energy requirements

wherever we operate.

• We will introduce measures to monitor our progress and report on this annually.

• A senior executive has the responsibility for ensuring that our environmental principles are followed and we progress

towards the targets we set ourselves. The board will take an active interest in our progress, and each of our operating

companies will nominate a senior person to take responsibility for implementing our policy in those businesses. An annual

report on our progress will be reviewed by the board.

• We will ensure that this environmental policy and our annual environmental report are available to everyone in Pearson

through our website, and actively encourage people to participate and contribute to the development of environmental

initiatives as they affect our business.

Supplier payment policy • Operating companies are responsible for agreeing the terms and conditions, including terms

of payment, under which business transactions with their suppliers are conducted. It is Group policy that suppliers are made

aware of such terms of payment and that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with these terms, provided that

the supplier is also complying with all relevant terms and conditions. Group trade creditors at 31 December 2000 were

equivalent to 34 days of purchases during the year ended on that date. The company does not have any significant trade

creditors enabling it to produce creditor information for this purpose.

External giving • In 2000, Pearson’s external giving totalled £1.79m (1999: £1.53m). This was split between the UK

(£847,000; £967,000 in 1999) and the rest of the world (£938,000; £559,000 in 1999). About half of this went to education,

arts, literacy and youth projects, including Children’s Promise and Literacy Partners. The other half was given to Pearson’s

operating companies which take active roles in supporting their local communities. All of the operating companies match

the funds raised by their employees for charities. The Financial Times Group continues to support schools and charities in

its local London borough of Southwark including a programme where FT employees visit schools to help with reading

programmes. Pearson does not make party political donations but it does support a number of independent research

institutes across the political spectrum.

Share capital • Details of share issues are given in note 25 to the accounts on page 84. On 26 January 2000 Pearson

announced the placing for cash of 11.5 million new ordinary shares representing approximately 2% of its then existing

issued ordinary share capital. The shares were subscribed for by institutional investors at a price of £22 per share. The

purpose of the placing was to fund its existing and new internet related businesses.

At the AGM held on 12 May 2000, the company was authorised, subject to certain conditions, to acquire up to 62 million

of its ordinary shares by market purchase. This authority expires on the date of the forthcoming AGM. Although

circumstances have not merited using this authority and there are no plans at present to do so, shareholders will be asked

to renew this authority at the AGM on 27 April 2001.

In September 2000 Pearson completed a 3 for 11 rights issue of 170,528,278 new Pearson shares at a price of 

£10 per ordinary share. The purpose of the rights issue was to finance the acquisition of National Computer Systems, Inc.
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At 5 March 2001, beneficial interests amounting to 3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital of the company notified

to the company comprised:

number of shares percentage

Telefónica Media SA 38,853,403 4.86%

Annual general meeting • The notice convening the AGM to be held at 12 noon on Friday, 27 April 2001 at The Queen

Elizabeth II Conference Centre, Broad Sanctuary, Westminster, London SW1P 3EE, is contained in a circular to shareholders

to be dated 27 March 2001.

Registered auditors • In accordance with section 384 of the Companies Act 1985 (the Act) resolutions proposing the

reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors to the company, at a level of remuneration to be agreed by the

directors, will be put to the shareholders at the AGM.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities • Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each

financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and Group as at the end of the year and

of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. The directors are also responsible for the maintenance of adequate

accounting records in compliance with the Act, for safeguarding the assets of the Group, and for preventing and detecting

fraud and other irregularities. In preparing the financial statements on pages 56 to 60 and 62 to 97 inclusive, the directors

consider that appropriate accounting policies have been used and applied in a consistent manner, supported by reasonable

and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all relevant accounting standards have been followed. 

Julia Casson • secretary • 5 March 2001
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Pearson wants to be the best company to work for in the world and we have made further progress towards this goal in

the past year. The personnel committee has been particularly pleased to see that this progress has been recognised in

several surveys on both sides of the Atlantic which have singled Pearson out as a leader in its sector.

The personnel committee plays an important part in developing pay and benefits packages to help the company fulfil this

goal. The committee is responsible for approving the pay and benefits packages of the executive directors and the chief

executives of the main operating companies. It also recommends the chairman’s remuneration to the board, reviews the

company’s management development and succession plans and monitors the operation of Pearson’s various reward

programmes.

The committee reviewed the company’s approach to management development in the course of the year and welcomed

the increased emphasis now being placed on this at all levels. The review concluded that the objectives set in 1999 had

been largely met. These were to enhance the high-level skills of senior executives and to encourage them to develop a

deeper understanding of the common challenges and opportunities facing the company. The committee was also pleased

to see the increased investment in training and development being made within the company.

The company’s objective is that everyone who works in Pearson should have a chance to own part of it and the company

has made dramatic progress over the past four years in increasing the number of its people who own shares or are saving

to acquire them. The company has also developed bonus and share ownership plans for executives which underline the

fact that employees and shareholders have a common interest in success.

The company operates a profit sharing plan under which all employees (except executive directors) can, at the discretion

of the board, receive a cash bonus and Pearson shares based upon the company’s overall profitability. For the past three

years, all employees worldwide have been able to acquire Pearson shares through a savings contract linked to a share plan.

The company has also steadily increased the number of staff in receipt of awards under executive-type share option plans

to approaching 4,000 this year compared with 185 in 1996.

In 2000, Pearson made one-off awards under a special share option programme which the board adopted and introduced

on the recommendation of the committee to deal with competitive and employee retention issues in our internet and

internet-related businesses.

Composition and compliance • The committee is chaired by Gill Lewis and its other members are Terry Burns and Reuben

Mark. All are non-executive directors.

The Financial Services Authority requires companies to comply with the provisions of the Combined Code on corporate

governance. The committee has considered the provisions in schedule A of the Code on the design of performance-related

remuneration and schedule B on what should be included in this report and believes that the company has complied

throughout the year.

In detail, the main components of the company’s remuneration policy for executives are base salary, an annual bonus plan,

long-term incentives, pension benefits and other market specific benefits. The current remuneration plans consist of:

Base salary • Base salaries are set at levels competitive with pay for directors and executives in similar positions in

comparable companies.

Annual bonus • The maximum bonus that can be earned by executive directors and chief executives of the company’s main

operating companies is 100% of annual base salary. Maximum bonuses for other senior executives range downward from

that level. Receiving the maximum requires the achievement of very challenging financial targets set by the committee. The

targets for 2000 related to the company’s stated goals of increasing earnings per share, revenue growth, margin

improvement and cash generation. Performance is measured separately for each element and for executive directors for

2000 the thresholds before bonus became payable were increases of 10% in adjusted earnings per share and 7.5% in

underlying sales and a cash conversion ratio of 80%. Based on performance against these measures, executive directors

received a bonus of 85.9% of salary (out of a potential maximum of 100%).
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The committee will continue to review the bonus plans and reserves the right to revise the bonus limits and targets in the

future. The committee may also award individual discretionary bonuses, but none were awarded for 2000. Bonuses do not

form part of pensionable earnings.

Annual bonus share matching plan • The annual bonus share matching plan permits executive directors and senior

executives around the Group to take up to 50% of any after tax annual bonus in the form of Pearson shares which, if held

and the company’s adjusted earnings per share increases in real terms by at least 3% per annum, will be matched by 

the company on a gross basis of one share for every two held after three years and another one for two originally held 

(i.e. a total of one-for-one) after five years. Details of directors’ matching awards are set out in tables 3 and 4 on pages 52

and 53 of this report.

Long-term incentives • Long-term incentive plans align the interests of directors and executives with those of shareholders.

The committee’s view is that if shareholders do well, this should be reflected in the remuneration of senior executives. The

committee reviews the operation of long-term incentive plans on a regular basis, taking into account legislative and

regulatory developments, particularly with regard to performance targets and evolving best practice.

Proposals for new long-term incentive arrangements are being put to shareholders at the AGM. Details of these have been

set out in a separate circular to shareholders dated 27 March 2001. These arrangements have been designed to enable us

to continue to recruit and retain the ablest managers worldwide and to ensure that their performance-related rewards are

competitive in the markets in which we operate. As a result, we will be able to provide more focused reward opportunities

for a wider group of managers, and to have greater flexibility in designing individual remuneration packages.

Details of Pearson’s existing long-term incentive plans are set out below.

i  Reward plan • The Pearson Reward Plan has had two elements: Pearson Premium Options (PPOs) linked to the rise in

the Pearson share price over three to seven years and Pearson shares in the form of Pearson Equity Incentives (PEIs)

linked to the three-year cumulative growth in Pearson’s free cash flow (being operating cash flow less tax liabilities on

operating activities and interest paid). Two awards have been made under this plan and the grants to executive directors

are shown in tables 3, 4 and 5 on pages 52, 53 and 54 of this report.

In the circular to shareholders dated 30 March 1999, it was stated that the minimum rate of growth in free cash flow per

share before any vesting of PEIs granted in 1999 took place would be very stretching and would require average growth

greater than 10% per annum in excess of 1998 free cash flow. The committee has monitored free cash flow performance

over the period and has concluded that the exceptionally high free cash flow for 1998 arising from a cash conversion

performance of 102% made a double-digit increase target from the 1998 base unrealistic in the context of the plan. As a

consequence, the committee has re-calibrated the targets for the 1999 to 2001 performance period based on the free cash

flow for 1998 that would have derived from a good, but more normal, level of cash conversion. The minimum average growth

rate of 10% per annum from this revised base remains.

Executive directors and managers covered by the reward plan were not eligible for grants of conventional share options in

any year in which they received an award under the reward plan.

ii  Executive and special share option plans • Options at market value at the date of grant have been granted to eligible

employees not covered by the reward plan. Under the executive share option plan, awards are within the individual and

overall limits authorised by shareholders. The exercise of options under this plan is subject to a real increase in the

company’s adjusted earnings per share of at least 3% per annum over a three-year period.

In the case of the special share option plan applied in 2000, no new shares will be issued to satisfy awards and executive

directors were not eligible to participate in it.

iii  Incentive share plan • The incentive share plan was introduced in 1993 to reward executives of the Group based on the

performance of the company over the medium to longer term as measured by total shareholder return relative to the

average of the FT-SE 100 total return index.
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There is one outstanding award under this plan, relating to Lord Stevenson, covering the five-year performance period May

1997 to April 2002. No new awards have been or will be made under the incentive share plan.

Service contracts • All executive directors have agreements which can be terminated by the company on 12 months’ notice.

In the case of early termination of their contracts by the company without cause, these contracts provide for liquidated

damages equivalent to 12 months’ base salary, benefits and a proportion of bonus. During the year, no material changes

were made to the service contracts of the executive directors. Non-executive directors do not have service contracts.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration • Fees for non-executive directors are determined by the full board with regard 

to market practice and within the restrictions contained in the articles of association. Fees are reviewed annually with 

the help of outside advice. Non-executive directors receive no other pay or benefits (other than reimbursement for 

expenses incurred in connection with their directorship of the company) and do not participate in the company’s long-term 

incentive plans. 

Since January 2000, non-executive directors have received an annual fee of £35,000 each. One overseas-based director is

paid a supplement of £7,000 per annum. The non-executive directors who chair the personnel and audit committees each

receive an additional fee of £5,000 per annum. £10,000 of the total fee, or all of the fee in the case of Rana Talwar, is payable

in the form of Pearson shares which the non-executive directors have committed to retain for the period of their

directorships.

Retirement benefits • The highest paid director, Marjorie Scardino, has pension arrangements comprising defined benefit

and defined contribution arrangements in the US. She participates in the funded, approved Pearson Inc. Pension Plan. This

is a non-contributory final salary pension arrangement providing a lump sum convertible to a pension on retirement. The

lump sum currently accrues at 6% of capped compensation. In addition, she participates in an unfunded, unapproved

defined contribution arrangement, which provides a benefit based on an annual notional company contribution of 25% of

base salary. This plan is non-contributory. The company also contributed $5,100 to the Pearson Inc. funded, approved,

defined contribution 401(k) arrangement and $17,400 to the Pearson Inc. Excess Savings and Investment Plan.

David Bell and John Makinson are members of a defined benefit section of the Pearson Group Pension Plan (the Plan), with

a member contribution rate of 5% of pensionable salary. David Bell is eligible for a pension from the Plan of two-thirds of

final base salary at normal retirement date due to his previous service with the Financial Times. It is anticipated that John

Makinson will receive a pension of two-thirds of capped salary at normal retirement date (inclusive of benefits transferred

from his previous pension plan). John Makinson is subject to the pensions earnings cap introduced by the Finance Act 1989.

John Makinson participates in the company’s Funded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (FURBS) arrangements,

under which a contribution equivalent to 31.1% of his annual base salary is made by the Company to compensate him for

pension benefits which cannot be provided from the Plan because of the pensions cap regulations. 

All the UK executive directors are also eligible for dependants’ pensions and a lump sum payment on death in service.

Details of directors’ pension arrangements are set out in table 2 on page 51 of this report. 
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Remuneration of the directors • Excluding contributions to pension funds and related benefits set out in table 2, directors’

remuneration was as follows:

TABLE 1 2000 1999

salaries/fees bonus other* 3-year ISP total total

all figures in £000s (see table 4)

Chairman

Lord Stevenson 275 — — — 275 268

Executive directors

Marjorie Scardino 475 408 55 — 938 2,517

David Bell 280 241 18 — 539 1,146

John Makinson 320 275 21 — 616 635

Non-executive directors

Lord Burns 35 — — — 35 16

Michel David-Weill 4 — — — 4 25

Gill Lewis 40 — — — 40 30

Reuben Mark 42 — — — 42 32

Vernon Sankey 40 — — — 40 30

Rana Talwar 30 — — — 30 —

David Verey 4 — — — 4 25

Total 1,545 924 94 — 2,563 4,724

Total 1999† 1,686 1,167 96 2,122 — 5,071

* ‘other’ excludes pension contributions.
† Includes amounts to former directors.

note • Marjorie Scardino was the highest paid director in 2000. Her base salary increased by 2.2% from £465,000. Her total remuneration, including
pension contributions, amounted to £1,081,182. For Marjorie Scardino, David Bell  and John Makinson, ‘other’ emoluments include company car and
health care benefits. Also included in ‘other’ emoluments for Marjorie Scardino is £34,660 in respect of housing costs.
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TABLE 2 other pension

and related

directors’ increase in benefits costs

contributions accrued accrued pension to the company

age at over the pension over the at 31 Dec 00 over the period 

31 Dec 00 period £000 pa period £000 pa £000 pa £000 pa

Directors’ pensions

Marjorie Scardino 53 — 1.1 4.1 142.9

David Bell 54 14.0 9.8 149.3 —

John Makinson 46 4.5 2.0 16.5 104.5

note 1 • The increase in accrued pension during the year excludes any increase for inflation. Accrued pension is that which would be paid annually
on retirement at 62, the normal retirement age under the Pearson pension plan in the UK, based on service to 31 December 2000. As members of
the UK plan, David Bell and John Makinson have the option to pay Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs). They did not pay any AVCs in 2000.

note 2 • The column headed ‘other pension and related benefits costs to the company over the period’ comprises payments to FURBS and pension
and insurance supplements for UK benefits. For US benefits, this includes life assurance, Group term life cover, company contributions to the Pearson
Inc. 401(k) and excess savings and investment plans and notional contributions to Marjorie Scardino’s notional defined contribution plan.

Further information relating to directors’ pensions:

Early retirement • UK directors and other UK employees may retire before the normal retirement age of 62 and receive an

immediate pension provided they have obtained company consent. In such cases, the pension entitlement from the UK plan

will be scaled down to reflect the shorter service in accordance with normal actuarial practice. Early retirement reduction

factors will also be applied to the accrued pension if retirement occurs before age 60. The earliest any director can retire

and receive an immediate pension from the UK plan other than on ill-health grounds is age 50. Under the company’s

FURBS arrangements, early retirement is possible with company consent from age 50 onwards. The benefit payable will

be the amount of the member’s fund at the relevant date. In the US, Marjorie Scardino has a normal retirement age of 65

but may retire with company consent from age 55 with a reduced pension on a broadly equivalent actuarial basis.

Dependants’ pensions • If a UK director dies while in employment before normal retirement age, a spouse’s pension will be

payable from the UK plan, or in the absence of a spouse to a financial dependant nominated by the member. The amount

of the pension will be one-third of the director’s annual base salary (capped in the case John Makinson). If a former director

dies after leaving service but before retirement, a pension of 50% of the director’s deferred pension will be payable to the

spouse or nominated financial dependant. If John Makinson or David Bell die in retirement, the pension payable to their

spouse or nominated financial dependant will be 60% of the director’s pension.  Children’s pensions may also be payable

to dependent children. As a member of the company’s FURBS arrangements, John Makinson’s member’s fund would be paid

to his dependants if he died before withdrawing it. Marjorie Scardino’s US plan provides a spouse’s pension on death in

service from age 55 and death-in-retirement benefits broadly equivalent to 50% of the member’s pension on early

retirement.

Pension increases • John Makinson and David Bell are guaranteed post-retirement pension increases at the rate of 5% per

annum or the Retail Price Index, if lower. The guaranteed increases relate to the non-Guaranteed Minimum Pension element

of the pension. The plan has a recent history of providing discretionary pension increases at the full Retail Price Index rate.

The US plans provide no guaranteed post-retirement pension increases for Marjorie Scardino.
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TABLE 3 at 31 Dec 00 incentive share

options - and reward annual bonus

ordinary ordinary plans ordinary matching

shares† shares shares‡ shares†

Interests of directors were

Lord Stevenson 90,406 2,512 72,862 —

Marjorie Scardino 71,259 408,753 117,219 44,955

David Bell 44,087 134,873 58,595 16,135

Lord Burns 252 — — —

Gill Lewis 253 — — —

John Makinson 22,465 349,233 67,185 25,334

Reuben Mark 10,000 — — —

Vernon Sankey 253 — — —

Rana Talwar 913 — — —

TABLE 3 at 1 Jan 00* incentive share

options - and reward annual bonus

ordinary ordinary plans ordinary matching

shares† shares shares‡ shares†

Interests of directors were

Lord Stevenson 70,393 2,243 64,353 —

Marjorie Scardino 28,334 266,506 74,446 27,928

David Bell 14,208 97,879 37,051 8,717

Lord Burns — — — —

Gill Lewis — — — —

John Makinson 12,687 254,612 42,541 14,480

Reuben Mark 7,600 — — —

Vernon Sankey — — — —

Rana Talwar — — — —

* Or date of appointment, if later.

† Amounts include shares acquired by individuals under the annual bonus share matching plan.

‡ The number of shares shown represents the maximum number of shares, including accumulated share dividends on incentive share plan shares
but not on reward plan shares, which may vest, subject to the performance conditions being fulfilled.

† These shares are held in trust and represent the maximum award required to provide the company’s matching contribution of shares in respect of
that part of the bonus taken in shares by each director. The shares only vest if the performance and other conditions of the plan are met.

note • The number of shares as at 31 December 2000 reflects a rights issue of equity shares during 2000.

note • Executive directors of the company, as possible beneficiaries, are also deemed to be interested in Pearson Employee Share Trustee Limited,
the trustee of which held 239,625 Pearson ordinary shares of 25p each at 31 December 2000 and also at 5 March 2001.

note • On 2 January 2001 Lord Burns, Gill Lewis and Vernon Sankey each acquired 93 shares in the company. On that date, Reuben Mark and Rana
Talwar acquired 121 shares and 425 shares respectively. The shares were acquired as part of their directors’ fees.

Interests of directors in listed subsidiaries

At 31 December 2000 Marjorie Scardino, David Bell and John Makinson each held 1,000 shares in Recoletos Compañía

Editorial, S.A., all purchased on 2 November 2000. Lord Stevenson held 8,660 shares purchased on 7 December 2000.
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TABLE 4 annual

number of incentive bonus number of rights number of 

shares share and share ISP shares number of issue shares 

outstanding reward matching vested and shares adjust- outstanding

at 1 Jan 00 plans* plan released lapsed ment at 31 Dec 00

Movements in directors’

interests under the

incentive share, reward

and annual bonus

share matching plans

Lord Stevenson 64,353 738 — — — 7,771 72,862

Marjorie Scardino 102,374 30,214 12,211 — — 17,375 162,174

David Bell 45,768 15,267 5,689 — — 8,006 74,730

John Makinson 57,021 17,448 8,141 — — 9,909 92,519

* The number of shares shown represents the maximum number of shares, including accumulated share dividends on incentive share plan shares
but not on reward plan shares, which may vest, subject to the performance conditions being fulfilled.

note • The number of shares reflects a rights issue of equity shares during 2000 as shown.

note • Cash dividends may be paid on incentive share plan shares.
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TABLE 5 rights option market gain on

year of issue price price exercise 

grant 01 Jan 00 granted adjustment exercised 31 Dec 00 (p) (p) (£)

Movements in 

directors’ interests 
in share options

Lord Stevenson b 1998 2,243 — 269 — 2,512 687 — —

Total 2,243 — 269 — 2,512 — — —

Marjorie Scardino a 1998 157,640 — 18,916 — 176,556 974 — —
a 1998 5,660 — — — 5,660 1090 — —
b 1998 2,535 — 304 — 2,839 687 — —
c 1999 33,557 — 4,026 — 37,583 1373 — —
c 1999 33,557 — 4,026 — 37,583 1648 — —
c 1999 33,557 — 4,026 — 37,583 1922 — —
c 2000 — 33,022 3,961 — 36,983 2303 — —
c 2000 — 33,022 3,961 — 36,983 2764 — —
c 2000 — 33,022 3,961 — 36,983 3225 — —

Total 266,506 99,066 43,181 — 408,753 — — —

David Bell a* 1996 26,500 — 3,180 (29,680) — 584 1886 386,433
b* 1995 1,186 — 142 (1,328) — 390 1634 16,520
a 1998 18,300 — 2,196 — 20,496 974 — —
b 1996 596 — 71 — 667 517 — —
b 1997 581 — 69 — 650 530 — —
b 1998 448 — 53 — 501 687 — —
b 1999 165 — 19 — 184 913 — —
c 1999 16,701 — 2,004 — 18,705 1373 — —
c 1999 16,701 — 2,004 — 18,705 1648 — —
c 1999 16,701 — 2,004 — 18,705 1922 — —
c 2000 — 16,685 2,001 — 18,686 2303 — —
c 2000 — 16,685 2,001 — 18,686 2764 — —
c 2000 — 16,685 2,001 — 18,686 3225 — —
b 2000 — 181 21 — 202 1428 — —

Total 97,879 50,236 17,766 (31,008) 134,873 — — 402,953

John Makinson a* 1994 50,000 — 6,000 — 56,000 567 — —
a* 1995 18,000 — 2,160 — 20,160 487 — —
a* 1996 32,800 — 3,936 — 36,736 584 — —
a* 1997 66,000 — 7,920 — 73,920 677 — —
a 1998 27,300 — 3,276 — 30,576 974 — —
b 1996 2,984 — 358 — 3,342 517 — —
c 1999 19,176 — 2,301 — 21,477 1373 — —
c 1999 19,176 — 2,301 — 21,477 1648 — —
c 1999 19,176 — 2,301 — 21,477 1922 — —
c 2000 — 19,068 2,288 — 21,356 2303 — —
c 2000 — 19,068 2,288 — 21,356 2764 — —
c 2000 — 19,068 2,288 — 21,356 3225 — —

Total 254,612 57,204 37,417 — 349,233 — — —

note • The original subscription price has been adjusted (except where this was not permitted) to reflect a rights issue of equity shares during 2000 as shown.

note • The option prices and market prices have been rounded up to the nearest whole penny.

note • Shares under option on 31 December 2000 are designated as: a executive options; b Save for Shares options; c premium priced options; and * where
the options are exercisable.

Total combined gain on exercise of the options for all directors during 2000 amounted to £402,953. The register of directors’ interests (which is open to
inspection during normal office hours) contains full details of directors’ shareholdings and options to subscribe for shares. The market price on 29 December
2000 was 1590p per share and the range during the year was 1465.2p to 2301.8p (rights adjusted). Subject to any performance conditions being met,
outstanding executive and premium priced options become exercisable on the third anniversary of the date of grant and lapse if they remain unexercised
after the tenth. Save for Shares options become exercisable on the third, fifth or seventh anniversary of the start of the contract and lapse if not exercised
within six months after that anniversary.
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CON SOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
year ended 31 Dec 2000

56

2000 1999 restated

results results

from other from other

all figures in £ millions operations items total operations items total note

Sales (including share of joint ventures) 3,537 – 3,537 3,332 – 3,332

Less: share of joint ventures (17) – (17) – – –

Continuing operations 3,520 – 3,520 3,332 – 3,332

Acquisitions 354 – 354 – – –

Total sales 3,874 – 3,874 3,332 – 3,332 2

Cost of sales (1,633) (8) (1,641) (1,414) (10) (1,424) 3

Gross profit 2,241 (8) 2,233 1,918 (10) 1,908

Net operating expenses ( 1,791) (220) (2,011) (1,441) (220) (1,661) 3

Operating profit analysed between:

Continuing operations – Group 446 (143) 303 477 (230) 247

Acquisitions – Group 4 (85) (81) – – –

Total operating profit – Group 450 (228) 222 477 (230) 247

Share of operating loss of joint ventures:

Continuing operations (21) – (21) – – –

Total share of operating loss of joint ventures (21) – (21) – – – 14

Share of operating profit of associates:

Continuing operations 25 (1) 24 24 (1) 23

Acquisitions 28 (50) (22) – – –

53 (51) 2 24 (1) 23

Discontinued operations 8 – 8 48 – 48

Total share of operating profit of associates 61 (51) 10 72 (1) 71 15

Total operating profit analysed between:

Operating profit before internet enterprises 686 (262) 424 588 (231) 357 2

Internet enterprises (196) (17) (213) (39) – (39) 2

Total operating profit 490 (279) 211 549 (231) 318 2



CON SOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT ( C O N T I N U E D )
year ended 31 Dec 2000

2000 1999 restated

results results

from other from other

all figures in £ millions operations items total operations items total note

Total operating profit 490 (279) 211 549 (231) 318

Continuing operations:

(Loss)/profit on sale of fixed assets and investments – (4) (4) – 349 349 4

Profit/(loss) on sale of businesses and associates – 30 30 – (44) (44) 5

Discontinued operations:

Profit on sale of businesses and associates – 231 231 – – – 5

– 257 257 – 305 305

Continuing operations:

(Loss)/profit on sale of businesses and associates 
by an associate – (3) (3) – 1 1 15

Profit before interest and taxation 490 (25) 465 549 75 624

Net finance costs

Net interest payable – Group (154) – (154) (145) – (145) 6

Net interest payable – associates (3) – (3) (2) – (2) 15

Other net finance costs – (24) (24) – – – 7

Total net finance costs (157) (24) (181) (147) – (147)

Profit before taxation 333 (49) 284 402 75 477

Taxation (87) (19) (106) (100) (77) (177) 8

Profit after taxation 246 (68) 178 302 (2) 300

Equity minority interests (14) 15 1 (6) – (6)

Profit for the financial year 232 (53) 179 296 (2) 294

Dividends on equity shares (164) (138) 9

Profit retained 15 156

Adjusted earnings per equity share before 

internet enterprises 54.6p 47.6p 10

Adjusted earnings per equity share after 

internet enterprises 31.9p 43.3p 10

Earnings per equity share 24.6p 43.0p 10

Diluted earnings per equity share 24.0p 42.4p 10

Dividends per equity share 21.4p 20.1p 9

1999 has been restated to reflect the adoption of FRS16 ‘Current Tax’. Earnings per equity share and dividends per equity

share in 1999 have been restated to reflect the rights issue of equity shares during 2000.

There is no difference between the profit on ordinary activities before taxation and the retained profit for the year stated

above and their historical cost equivalents.
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CON SOLIDATED BAL ANCE SHEET
as at 31 Dec 2000

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999 note

Fixed assets 

Intangible assets 4,522 2,457 12

Tangible assets 524 405 13

Investments: joint ventures 14

Share of gross assets 13 –

Share of gross liabilities (1) –

12 –

Investments: associates 1,024 234 15

Investments: 0ther 155 99 16

6,237 3,195

Current assets 

Stocks 828 691 17

Debtors 1,217 1,132 18

Investments 12 4 19

Cash at bank and in hand 516 328 20

2,573 2,155

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 

Short-term borrowing (112) (47) 21

Other creditors (1,484) (1,441) 22

(1,596) (1,488)

Net current assets 977 667

Total assets less current liabilities 7,214 3,862

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 

Medium and long-term borrowing (2,705) (2,276) 21

Other creditors (34) (32) 22

(2,739) (2,308)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 

Deferred taxation (9) (21) 23

Other provisions for liabilities and charges (257) (206) 24

Net assets 4,209 1,327

Capital and reserves 

Called up share capital 199 153 25

Share premium account 2,440 517 26

Profit and loss account 1,405 651 26

Equity shareholders’ funds 4,044 1,321

Equity minority interests 165 6

4,209 1,327

The company balance sheet is shown in note 33.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 5 March 2001 and signed on its behalf by 

Lord Stevenson • John Makinson
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CON SOLIDATED STATEMENT OF C A SH FLOWS
year ended 31 Dec 2000

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999 note

Net cash inflow from operating activities 361 433 29

Dividends from joint ventures and associates 49 44

Interest received 16 41

Interest paid (179) (182)

Debt issue costs (4) (5)

Dividends paid to minority interests – (1)

Returns on investments and servicing of finance (167) (147)

Taxation (90) (156)

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (139) (102)

Sale of tangible fixed assets 22 36

Purchase of investments (132) (24)

Sale of investments 1 624

Capital expenditure and financial investment (248) 534

Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (2,276) (249)

Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings (31) –

Purchase of joint ventures and associates (108) (54)

Sale of subsidiary undertakings 158 44

Net cash disposed with subsidiary undertakings – (3)

Sale of associates 392 12

Acquisitions and disposals (1,865) (250) 27/28

Equity dividends paid (143) (132)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow before management of liquid resources and financing (2,103) 326

Liquid resources acquired (16) (9)

Liquid resources disposed – 10

Collateral deposit placed (118) –

Management of liquid resources (134) 1 29

Issue of equity share capital 1,959 18

Capital element of finance lease rentals (10) (11)

Loan facility advanced 473 –

Loan facility repaid (735) (1,112)

Bonds advanced 411 608

Loan notes advanced 134 –

Net movement in other borrowings 63 202

Financing 2,295 (295)

Increase in cash in the year 58 32 29
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STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECO GNISED G AIN S AND LOSSES
year ended 31 Dec 2000

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Profit for the financial year 179 294

Other net gains and losses recognised in reserves:

Currency translation differences 95 33

Taxation on currency translation differences – UK (8) 3

Total recognised gains relating to the year 266 330
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RECONCILIAT ION OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUIT Y SHAREHOLDER S’ FUNDS
year ended 31 Dec 2000

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Profit for the financial year 179 294

Dividends on equity shares (164) (138)

15 156

Currency translation differences (net of taxation) 87 36

Goodwill arising on prior year acquisitions 1 –

Goodwill written back on business combinations 585 –

Goodwill written back 68 63

Shares issued 1,961 18

Replacement options granted on acquisition of subsidiary 6 –

Net movement for the year 2,723 273

Equity shareholders’ funds at beginning of the year 1,321 1,048

Equity shareholders’ funds at end of the year 4,044 1,321



R E P O RT OF THE AU D I TORS TO THE MEMBERS OF PEARSON PLC

We have audited the financial statements which comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the statement

of cash flows, the statement of total recognised gains losses, and the reconciliation of movements in equity

s h a re h o l d e r s’ funds, and the related notes (including additional disclosures within the Personnel Committee Re p o r t

relating to the remuneration of directors of Pearson plc as specified for our re v i ew by the Financial Services Au t h o r i t y )

which have been pre p a red under the historical cost convention and the accounting policies set out in the statement

of accounting policies.

Re s p e c t i ve responsibilities of directors and auditors • The directors are responsible for preparing the annual re p o r t .

As described in the statement of directors responsibilities within the directors report, this includes responsibility for

p reparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards. Ou r

responsibilities, as independent auditors, are established in the United Kingdom by statute, the Auditing Practices Board ,

the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and our pro f e s s i o n’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly pre p a re d

in accordance with the United Kingdom Companies Act. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the dire c t o r s’ re p o r t

is not consistent with the financial statements, if the company has not kept proper accounting re c o rds, if we have not

re c e i ved all the information and explanations we re q u i re for our audit, or if information specified by law or the Listing

Rules re g a rding dire c t o r s’ remuneration and transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the annual report and consider the implications for our report if we become

a w a re of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

We re v i ew whether the corporate governance statement in the directors report reflects the company’s compliance with

the seven provisions of the Combined Code specified for our re v i ew by the Financial Services Au t h o r i t y, and we re p o r t

if it does not. We are not re q u i red to consider whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and

c o n t rols, or to form an opinion on the eff e c t i veness of the Gro u p’s corporate governance pro c e d u res or its risk and

c o n t rol pro c e d u re s .

Basis of audit opinion • We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing St a n d a rds issued by the Auditing Pr a c t i c e s

B o a rd. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence re l e vant to the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the dire c t o r s

in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s

c i rcumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 

necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements

a re free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or erro r. In forming our opinion we

also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Op i n i o n • In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and

the Group at 3 1 December 2 0 0 0 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended and have been

p roperly pre p a red in accordance with the Companies Act 1 9 8 5.

Pr i c ew a t e r h o u s e C o o p e r s • c h a r t e red accountants and re g i s t e red auditors • London 5 Ma rch 2 0 0 1

No t e s :

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the Pearson plc website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors

does not invo l ve consideration of these matters and, accord i n g l y, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have

o c c u r red to the financial statements since they we re initially presented on the we b s i t e .

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation

in other jurisdictions.

61



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting policies have been consistently applied except that FRS16 ‘Current Tax’ has been adopted and hence

comparative figures have been restated to reflect that UK dividend income is now presented net of UK tax credits. In 1999

the taxation charge has been reduced by £3m and profit on the sale of fixed assets and investments has also been reduced

by £3m. FRS15 ‘Tangible Fixed Assets’ has also been adopted.

a. Basis of accounting • The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable

accounting standards. A summary of the significant accounting policies is set out below. 

b. Basis of consolidation • The consolidated accounts include the accounts of all subsidiary undertakings made up to

31 December. Where companies have become or ceased to be subsidiary or associated undertakings during the year, the

Group profit includes profits for the period during which they were subsidiary or associated undertakings. 

From 1 January 1998 goodwill, being either the net excess of the cost of shares in subsidiary undertakings and associated

undertakings over the value attributable to their net assets on acquisition or the cost of other goodwill by purchase, is

capitalised and amortised through the profit and loss account over its estimated useful life not exceeding 20 years.

Estimated useful life is determined after taking into account such factors as the nature and age of the business and the

stability of the industry in which the acquired business operates as well as typical life spans of the acquired products to

which the goodwill attaches. Goodwill is subject to an impairment review at the end of the first full year following an

acquisition and at any other time if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be

recoverable. Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 1 January 1998 has been deducted from reserves and is charged or

credited to the profit and loss account on disposal or closure of the business to which it relates. 

The profit of the Group includes the Group’s share of the results of associated undertakings, and the consolidated balance

sheet includes the Group’s interest in associated undertakings at the book value of attributable net assets and attributable

goodwill. The figures included in the financial statements have been based on unaudited management accounts for the

period to 31 December. 

c. Sales • Sales represent the amount of goods and services, net of value added tax and other sales taxes, and excluding

trade discounts and anticipated returns, provided to external customers and associated undertakings.

Revenue from the sale of books is recognised when the goods are shipped. Anticipated returns are based on historical

return rates. Circulation and advertising revenue is recognised when the newspaper or other publication is published.

Subscription revenue is recognised over the life of the subscription.

d. Pension costs • The regular pension cost of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes is charged to the profit and

loss account in order to apportion the cost of pensions over the service lives of employees in the schemes. Variations arising

from a significant reduction in the number of employees are adjusted in the profit and loss account to the extent that the

year’s regular pension cost, reduced by other variations, exceeds contributions payable for that year. Other variations are

apportioned over the expected service lives of current employees in the schemes. 

e. Post-retirement benefits other than pensions • Post-retirement benefits other than pensions are accounted for on an

accruals basis to recognise this obligation over the expected service lives of the employees concerned.

f. Tangible fixed assets • The cost of tangible fixed assets other than freehold land is depreciated over estimated

economic lives in equal annual amounts. Generally, freeholds are depreciated at 1% to 5% per annum, leaseholds at 2%

per annum, or over the period of the lease if shorter, and plant and equipment at various rates between 5% and 33% per

annum.

g. Leases • Finance lease rentals are capitalised at the net present value of the total amount of rentals payable under the

leasing agreement (excluding finance charges) and depreciated in accordance with policy f above. Finance charges are

written off over the period of the lease in reducing amounts in relation to the written down carrying cost. Operating lease

rentals are expensed as incurred.

h. Fixed asset investments • Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provisions for diminution in value. 

i. Stocks • Stocks and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTI N UED)

j. Pre-publication costs • Pre-publication costs represent direct costs incurred in the development of titles prior to their

publication. These costs are carried forward in stock where the title has a useful life in excess of one year. These costs are

amortised over estimated economic lives of five years or less, upon publication of the title, with a higher proportion of the

amortisation taken in the earlier years.

k. Royalty advances • Advances of royalties to authors are included within debtors when the advance is paid less any

provision required to bring the amount down to its net realisable value. The royalty advance is expensed at the contracted

royalty rate as the related revenues are earned.

l. Newspaper development costs • Revenue investment in the development of newspaper titles consists of measures to

increase the volume and geographical spread of circulation. These measures include additional and enhanced editorial

content, extended distribution and remote printing. These extra costs arising are expensed as incurred.

m. Deferred taxation • Deferred taxation is provided, using the liability method, at the expected applicable rates, on all

timing differences between accounting and taxation treatments which are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

n. Financial instruments • The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and

foreign exchange risks. These include interest rate swaps, currency swaps and forward currency contracts. Amounts payable

or receivable in respect of interest rate derivatives are accrued with net interest payable over the period of the contract.

Where the derivative instrument is terminated early the gain or loss is spread over the remaining maturity of the original

instrument. Foreign currency borrowings and their related derivatives are carried in the balance sheet at the relevant

exchange rates at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses in respect of the hedging of overseas subsidiary undertakings

are taken to reserves. Gains or losses arising from foreign exchange contracts are taken to the profit and loss account in

line with the transactions which they are hedging. Premiums paid on contracts designed to manage currency exposure on

specific acquisitions or disposals are charged to the profit and loss account.

The company participates in offset arrangements with certain banks whereby cash and overdraft amounts are offset against

each other.

o. Foreign currencies • Profit and loss accounts in overseas currencies are translated into sterling at average rates.

Balance sheets are translated into sterling at the rates ruling at 31 December. Exchange differences arising on consolidation

are taken directly to reserves. Other exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account where they relate to

trading transactions and directly to reserves where they relate to investments. 

The principal overseas currency for the Group is the US dollar. The average rate for the year against sterling was $1.51

(1999: $1.61) and the year end rate was $1.49 (1999: $1.61).

p. Liquid resources • Liquid resources comprise short-term deposits of less than one year and investments which are

readily realisable and held on a short-term basis. 

q. Retained profits of overseas subsidiaries and associates • No provision is made for any additional taxation, less double

taxation relief, which would arise on the remittance of profits retained where there is no intention to remit such profits.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

2A. ANALYSIS OF SALES

2000 1999

internet total internet total

all figures in £ millions sales enterprises sales sales enterprises sales

Business sectors

Pearson Education 2,087 3 2,090 1,725 – 1,725
FT Group 802 42 844 680 7 687
The Penguin Group 755 – 755 565 – 565
Television 185 – 185 355 – 355

Continuing operations 3,829 45 3,874 3,325 7 3,332

Geographical markets supplied

United Kingdom 520 13 533 539 5 544
Continental Europe 459 7 466 516 2 518
North America 2,504 24 2,528 1,990 – 1,990
Asia Pacific 229 1 230 200 – 200
Rest of world 117 – 117 80 – 80

Continuing operations 3,829 45 3,874 3,325 7 3,332

total by inter- total total by inter- total

all figures in £ millions source regional sales source regional sales

Geographical source of sales

United Kingdom 837 (29) 808 820 (52) 768
Continental Europe 352 (7) 345 394 (6) 388
North America 2,453 (19) 2,434 1,991 (18) 1,973
Asia Pacific 204 (3) 201 159 (4) 155
Rest of world 88 (2) 86 50 (2) 48

Continuing operations 3,934 (60) 3,874 3,414 (82) 3,332

note • The table above analyses sales by the geographical region from which the products and services originate. Inter-regional sales are those made
between the Group companies in different regions. The Pearson Education business sector includes sales of £146m in respect of National Computer
Systems and The Penguin Group business sector includes sales of £125m in respect of Dorling Kindersley, both of which were acquired during 2000.

2B. ANALYSIS OF OPERATING PROFIT

2000

results

from internet integration goodwill operating

all figures in £ millions operations enterprises costs amortisation profit

Business sectors

Pearson Education 320 (83) (13) (157) 67
FT Group 211 (113) – (53) 45
The Penguin Group 79 – (27) (14) 38
Television 68 – – (15) 53

Continuing operations 678 (196) (40) (239) 203
Discontinued operations 8 – – – 8

686 (196) (40) (239) 211

Geographical markets supplied

United Kingdom 89 (90) (16) (22) (39)
Continental Europe 124 (8) – (14) 102
North America 405 (97) (21) (203) 84
Asia Pacific 26 – (3) – 23
Rest of world 34 (1) – – 33

Continuing operations 678 (196) (40) (239) 203
Discontinued operations 8 – – – 8

686 (196) (40) (239) 211
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2B. ANALYSIS OF OPERATING PROFIT (CONTI N UED)

1999

results

from internet integration year 2000 goodwill operating

all figures in £ millions operations enterprises costs costs amortisation profit

Business sectors

Pearson Education 257 (3) (95) (2) (121) 36
FT Group 150 (36) – (2) (9) 103
The Penguin Group 65 – – (1) – 64
Television 68 – – – (1) 67

Continuing operations 540 (39) (95) (5) (131) 270
Discontinued operations 48 – – – – 48

588 (39) (95) (5) (131) 318

Geographical markets supplied

United Kingdom 46 (34) (14) (2) – (4)
Continental Europe 110 (1) (2) – (4) 103
North America 340 (4) (72) (3) (127) 134
Asia Pacific 29 – (6) – – 23
Rest of world 15 – (1) – – 14

Continuing operations 540 (39) (95) (5) (131) 270
Discontinued operations 48 – – – – 48

588 (39) (95) (5) (131) 318

note • Integration costs include costs in respect of the Simon & Schuster acquisition in 1998 and the Dorling Kindersley and National Computer
Systems acquisitions in 2000. Discontinued operations relate to the withdrawal of the Group from the banking business following its disposal of Lazard
in March 2000. Analyses of the profits of joint ventures and associates are shown in notes 14 and 15. Internet enterprises consists of the Group’s
discrete internet operations, principally FT.com and Learning Network. The Pearson Education business sector (results from operations) includes £15m
in respect of National Computer Systems and The Penguin Group business sector (results from operations) includes £nil in respect of Dorling
Kindersley, both of which were acquired during 2000. Of the exceptional expense of £40m charged to the profit and loss account in 2000, £21m was
charged against provisions.

2C. ANALYSIS OF CAPITAL EMPLOYED

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Business sectors

Pearson Education 4,864 2,877
FT Group 542 408
The Penguin Group 569 193
Television 801 (78)

Continuing operations 6,776 3,400
Discontinued operations – 149

6,776 3,549

Geographical location

United Kingdom 379 (30)
Continental Europe 1,038 313
North America 5,217 3,023
Asia Pacific 39 22
Rest of world 103 72

Continuing operations 6,776 3,400
Discontinued operations – 149

6,776 3,549

Reconciliation of capital employed to net assets

Capital employed 6,776 3,549
Less: deferred taxation (9) (21)
Less: other provisions (257) (206)
Less: net debt (2,301) (1,995)

Net assets 4,209 1,327
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

3. ANALYSIS OF CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Cost of sales (1,641) (1,424)

Distribution costs (180) (157)

Administration and other expenses (1,913) (1,602)

Other operating income (see below) 82 98

Net operating expenses (2,011) (1,661)

Analysed as:

Net operating expenses – before exceptional items 

and goodwill amortisation (1,791) (1,446)

Net operating expenses – exceptional items (32) (85)

Net operating expenses – goodwill amortisation (188) (130)

Net operating expenses (2,011) (1,661)

note • The following amounts are included in the 2000 totals in respect of acquisitions: cost of sales £211m and net operating expenses £224m. The
exceptional expense of £40m in 2000 (1999: £95m) is included within cost of sales £8m (1999: £10m) and administration and other expenses 
£32m (1999: £85m) (see note 2). 

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Other operating income

Income from other investments:

Unlisted 3 3

BSBH loan stock interest – 1

Other operating income (mainly royalties, rights and commission income) 79 94

82 98

Profit before taxation is stated after charging:

Amortisation of pre-publication costs 155 134

Depreciation 100 82

Operating lease rentals:

Plant and machinery 16 22

Properties 75 61

Other 14 12

Year 2000 compliance costs – 5

Auditors’ remuneration:

Audit 2 2

Non-audit – UK (company £nil; 1999: £nil) 1 2

Non-audit – Other 5 2

note • In addition to the non-audit fees (UK) of £1m (1999: £2m), consultancy fees of £1m (1999: £6m) have been incurred in respect of systems
development. These fees have been capitalised. Fees of £1m (1999: £2m) were also incurred in the UK in respect of acquisitions and disposals. These
fees have also been capitalised. Audit fees of the company amounted to £0.1m (1999: £0.1m).
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4. (LOSS)/PROFIT ON SALE OF FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENTS

2000 1999
all figures in £ millions restated

Continuing operations:

Profit on disposal of interest in BSB Holdings Ltd – 345

Net (loss)/profit on other investments and property interests (4) 4

(4) 349

Taxation 3 (90)

5. PROFIT/(LOSS) ON SALE OF BUSINESSES AND ASSOCIATES

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Continuing operations:

Profit on sale of 20% of Recoletos 86 –

Loss on closure of Dorling Kindersley Family Learning business (16) –

Net loss on sale of other businesses and associates (40) (44)

30 (44)

Discontinued operations:

Profit on sale of Lazard (see note 15) 231 –

261 (44)

Taxation (51) 5

6. NET INTEREST PAYABLE – GROUP

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Interest payable and similar charges:

On borrowing repayable wholly within five years not by instalments (110) (155)

On borrowing repayable wholly or partly after five years (67) (29)

(177) (184)

Interest receivable and similar income:

On deposits and liquid funds 21 29

On discounted proceeds on businesses held for resale – 7

Amortisation of swap proceeds (see note 22) 2 3

Net interest payable (154) (145)

7. OTHER NET FINANCE COSTS

The amortisation of an arrangement fee in respect of a borrowing facility has been accelerated due to the early redemption

of the facility resulting in a charge of £16m. An £8m premium was paid in respect of a forward currency option in connection

with the acquisition of National Computer Systems.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

8. TA X ATION

2000 1999
all figures in £ millions restated

UK

Corporation tax for the period at 30% (1999: 30.2%) 40 116

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (13) (11)

27 105

Double taxation relief (1) (1)

26 104

Deferred taxation (see note 23) (1) 6

Joint ventures (6) –

Associates 6 9

Overseas

Overseas taxation for the period 70 52

Deferred taxation (3) –

Associates 14 6

106 177

2000 1999
all figures in percentages restated

Tax rate reconciliation

UK tax rate 30.0 30.2

Effect of overseas tax rates 2.2 3.0

Effect of utilisation of tax losses in the US (7.8) (9.8)

Other items (1.4) 1.6

Tax rate reflected in adjusted earnings (before internet enterprises) 23.0 25.0

Effect of internet enterprises 3.1 –

Tax rate reflected in adjusted earnings (after internet enterprises) 26.1 25.0

Effect of profits/(losses) excluded from adjusted earnings 11.2 12.1

Tax rate reflected in earnings 37.3 37.1

note • The Group has significant tax losses available in the US which are not recognised in the accounts and hence the tax rate reflected in adjusted
earnings is lower than the UK tax rate.

9. DIVIDENDS

2000 1999

pence per

pence per share

share £m restated £m

Interim paid 8.2 58 7.7 53

Final proposed 13.2 106 12.4 85

Dividends for the year 21.4 164 20.1 138

note • 1999 interim and final and 2000 interim dividends per share have been restated to reflect the rights issue of equity shares during 2000
(see note 25). Dividends in respect of the company’s shares held by employee share trusts (see note 16) have been waived.
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10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

In order to show results from operating activities on a comparable basis two adjusted earnings per equity share are
presented. First, an adjusted earnings per share is presented which excludes profits or losses on the sale of fixed assets
and investments, businesses and associates (see notes 4 and 5) which in 2000 relate primarily to the sale of Lazard and
the sale of 20% of Recoletos. Also excluded are Year 2000 compliance costs, integration costs in respect of the acquisitions
of Simon & Schuster, Dorling Kindersley and National Computer Systems (NCS) (see note 2), the accelerated amortisation
of a financing arrangement fee following the early redemption of a borrowing facility, the premium paid in respect of 
a forward currency option in connection with the acquisition of NCS (see note 7) and goodwill amortisation. Due to a
significant level of expenditure on internet enterprises, a second adjusted earnings per equity share is presented in which
the results of these are also excluded from earnings.

2000 1999
restated

earnings per earnings per

£m share (p) £m share (p)

Profit for the financial year 179 24.6 294 43.0

Adjustments:

Loss/(profit) on sale of fixed assets and 
investments: continuing operations (see note 4) 4 0.5 (349) (51.0)

(Profit)/loss on sale of businesses and associates:

continuing operations (see note 5) (30) (4.0) 44 6.4

(Profit) on sale of businesses and associates: 
discontinued operations (see note 5) (231) (31.7) – –

Loss/(profit) on sale of businesses and associates
by an associate: continuing operations 3 0.4 (1) (0.1)

Internet enterprises (see note 2) 196 26.9 39 5.7

Interest on internet enterprises 9 1.2 – –

Goodwill amortisation (see notes 12/15) 239 32.9 131 19.2

Integration costs (see note 2) 40 5.5 95 13.9

Other net finance costs (see note 7) 24 3.3 – –

Year 2000 compliance costs – – 5 0.7

Taxation on above items (18) (2.5) 67 9.8

Minority interest share of above items (18) (2.5) – –

Adjusted earnings before internet enterprises 397 54.6 325 47.6

Internet enterprises (196) (26.9) (39) (5.7)

Interest on internet enterprises (9) (1.2) – –

Taxation on internet enterprises 37 5.0 10 1.4

Minority interest share of internet enterprises 3 0.4 – –

Adjusted earnings after internet enterprises 232 31.9 296 43.3

Profit for the financial year 179 24.3 294 42.5

Taxation on the conversion of ordinary shares (2) (0.3) (1) (0.1)

Diluted earnings 177 24.0 293 42.4

Weighted average number of equity shares 
(millions) – for earnings and adjusted earnings 727.7 683.4

Effect of dilutive share options 8.4 7.8

Weighted average number of equity shares 
(millions) – for diluted earnings 736.1 691.2

note • The weighted average number of shares in 1999 has been restated to reflect the rights issue of equity shares during 2000.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

11. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

The details of the emoluments of the directors of Pearson plc are shown on pages 47 to 54 and form part of these audited

financial statements.

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 792 702

Social security costs 82 75

Post-retirement costs 22 26

896 803

UK US other total

Average number employed 2000

Pearson Education 1,517 9,180 2,888 13,585

FT Group 2,166 1,413 1,892 5,471

The Penguin Group 1,630 2,310 768 4,708

Television 390 60 247 697

Other 168 59 – 227

Continuing operations 5,871 13,022 5,795 24,688

Average number employed 1999

Pearson Education 1,407 7,229 2,042 10,678

FT Group 2,158 1,034 1,790 4,982

The Penguin Group 749 1,866 614 3,229

Television 617 105 550 1,272

Other 171 51 – 222

Continuing operations 5,102 10,285 4,996 20,383

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Post-retirement costs

Defined benefit pension schemes

UK Group plan: regular pension cost 8 8

UK Group plan: amortisation of surplus (8) (3)

Net pension charge – 5

Other defined benefit pension schemes 13 11

Defined contribution pension schemes 5 6

Medical benefits 4 4

22 26

Pension schemes • The Group operates a number of pension schemes throughout the world. The major schemes are self-

administered and the schemes’ assets are held independently of the Group. Pension costs are assessed in accordance with

the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The principal schemes are primarily of the defined benefit type. There is also

a closed defined benefit scheme in the UK, which now receives neither employers’ nor members’ contributions, and a

number of other defined benefit and defined contribution schemes, principally overseas.

The most recent full actuarial valuation was performed as at 1 January 1999, using the projected unit method of valuation.

The market value of the assets of the scheme at this date was £1,038m. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the

SSAP24 charge are shown on page 71. The net assets of the UK Group plan at 31 December 2000 are included in the pension

plan accounts at £1,185m (unaudited).
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11. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION (CONTI N UED)

UK group plan

Real return on investments per annum 3.9%

Real increase in earnings per annum 1.9%

Real increase in pensions in payment per annum 0.0%

Real increase in dividends per annum 1.25%

Level of funding• 112%

• Actuarial value of assets expressed as a percentage of the actuarial value of the liabilities.

In view of these results, all employers’ contributions remain suspended for the time being and the valuation surplus is being

apportioned, in accordance with SSAP24, on a mortgage basis over the expected remaining service lives of the current

employees.

The total market value of the assets of other defined benefit schemes (mainly in the US), valued this year, was £93m 

(1999: £64m).

Other post-retirement benefits • The Group provides certain health-care and life-assurance benefits principally for retired

US employees and their dependants. These plans are unfunded. Retirees are eligible for participation if they meet certain

age and service requirements. Plans that are available vary depending on the business division in which the retiree worked.

Plan choices and retiree contributions are dependent on retirement date, business division, option chosen and length 

of service.

The principal assumptions affecting the provision for other post-retirement benefits were: medical inflation rates of between

5% and 7% and a discount rate of 8%.

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

all figures in £ millions goodwill

Cost

At 31 December 1999 2,599

Exchange differences 162

Additions (see note 27) 2,206

Television assets contributed (70)

Disposals (see note 28) (37)

At 31 December 2000 4,860

Amortisation

At 31 December 1999 (142)

Exchange differences (12)

Television assets contributed 2

Disposals (see note 28) 2

Provided in the year (188)

At 31 December 2000 (338)

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 1999 2,457

At 31 December 2000 4,522
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

freehold & plant assets in

leasehold & course of

all figures in £ millions property equipment construction total

Cost

At 31 December 1999 235 537 21 793

Exchange differences 8 20 1 29

Reclassifications 14 8 (22) –

Owned by subsidiary undertakings acquired 71 134 – 205

Television assets contributed (34) (54) – (88)

Capital expenditure 24 102 3 129

Owned by subsidiary undertakings disposed – (4) – (4)

Disposals (17) (67) (1) (85)

At 31 December 2000 301 676 2 979

Depreciation

At 31 December 1999 (81) (307) – (388)

Exchange differences (2) (13) – (15)

Impairment in value – (1) – (1)

Provided in the year (12) (88) – (100)

Owned by subsidiary undertakings acquired (12) (46) – (58)

Television assets contributed 6 26 – 32

Owned by subsidiary undertakings disposed – 1 – 1

Disposals 9 65 – 74

At 31 December 2000 (92) (363) – (455)

Net book value

At 31 December 1999 154 230 21 405

At 31 December 2000 209 313 2 524

Freehold and leasehold property • Net book value includes: freehold of £154m (1999: £113m) and short leases of £56m

(1999: £41m).

Capital commitments • The Group had capital commitments for fixed assets, including finance leases, already under contract

amounting to £24m at 31 December 2000 (1999: £20m).

Other notes • The net book value of Group tangible fixed assets includes £11m (1999: £23m) in respect of assets held under

finance leases. Depreciation on these assets charged in 2000 was £1m (1999: £2m).

14. JOINT VENTURES

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

valuation book value valuation book value

Unlisted joint ventures 12 12 – –

note • The valuations of unlisted joint ventures are directors’ valuations as at 31 December 2000. If realised at these values there would be no liability
for taxation. The Group had no capital commitments to subscribe for further capital and loan stock. 

total net 

all figures in £ millions equity reserves assets

Summary of movements

At 31 December 1999 – – –

Transfer from associates 8 (2) 6

Owned by businesses acquired 2 – 2

Additions 19 – 19

Retained loss for the year – (15) (15)

At 31 December 2000 29 (17) 12
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14. JOINT VENTURES (CONTI N UED)

2000

operating total net

all figures in £ millions profit assets

Analysis of joint ventures

Business sectors

FT Group (21) 10

The Penguin Group – 2

Continuing operations (21) 12

Geographical markets supplied and location of net assets

United Kingdom (2) 3

Continental Europe (19) 9

Continuing operations (21) 12

all figures in £ millions 2000

Reconciliation to retained loss

Operating loss of joint ventures (21)

UK taxation 6

Retained loss for the year (15)

15. ASSOCIATES

2000 1999

all figures in £ millions valuation book value valuation book value

Partnership interests – – 410 149

Listed associates 1,895 948 – –

Unlisted associates 341 72 426 18

Loans 4 4 67 67

2,240 1,024 903 234

note • Principal associates are listed on page 97. The valuations of unlisted associates are directors’ valuations as at 31 December 2000. If all
associates were realised at these values there would be an estimated liability for taxation, at year end rates, of £153m. The Group had no capital
commitments to subscribe for further capital and loan stock. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

15. ASSOCIATES (CONTI N UED)

share of total net 

all figures in £ millions equity loans reserves total goodwill assets

Summary of movements

At 31 December 1999 98 67 43 208 26 234

Exchange differences 2 – 2 4 15 19

Transfer to joint ventures (8) – 2 (6) – (6)

Additions 18 13 – 31 58 89

Combination of television 
interests:

– Television assets contributed (4) (64) 51 (17) (48) (65)

– Share of combined television 
interests 183 – – 183 633 816

Combination of Asset 
Valuation interests 
– DBC 5 – – 5 117 122

Disposals (104) (12) (45) (161) – (161)

Retained loss for the year – – (14) (14) – (14)

Goodwill written back 
on disposal 41 – – 41 – 41

Goodwill amortisation – – – – (51) (51)

At 31 December 2000 231 4 39 274 750 1,024

2000 1999

operating total net operating total net

all figures in £ millions profit assets profit assets

Analysis of associates

Business sectors

Pearson Education 7 18 6 7

FT Group (30) 175 14 63

Television 25 831 3 15

Continuing operations 2 1,024 23 85

Discontinued operations 8 – 48 149

10 1,024 71 234

Geographical markets supplied and location of net assets

United Kingdom 3 (3) – 2

Continental Europe 29 874 10 56

North America (36) 135 8 14

Rest of world 6 18 5 13

Continuing operations 2 1,024 23 85

Discontinued operations 8 – 48 149

10 1,024 71 234

note • Operating profit from continuing operations before goodwill amortisation is analysed as Pearson Education £7m, FT Group £7m and 
Television £39m.
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15. ASSOCIATES (CONTI N UED)

all figures in £ millions 2000

Reconciliation to retained loss

Operating profit of partnerships and other associates (before goodwill amortisation) 61

Loss on sale of business by an associate (3)

Net interest payable of associates (3)

UK taxation (6)

Overseas taxation (14)

Distributions receivable in respect of the year from partnership interests (35)

Dividends (including tax credits) from unlisted associates (14)

Retained loss for the year (14)

The aggregate of the Group’s share in its associates, excluding the Group’s interest in the RTL Group, and Lazard in 1999, 

is shown below.

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Sales 384 299

Fixed assets 42 72

Current assets 132 165

Liabilities due within one year (73) (105)

Liabilities due after one year or more (32) (73)

Net assets 69 59

In July 2000 the Group combined its television business with CLT-Ufa and retained a 22% shareholding in the new combined

business, the RTL Group. The Group’s share in the sales and net assets of the RTL Group is shown below.

all figures in £ millions 2000

Sales 271

Fixed assets 241

Current assets 348

Liabilities due within one year (324)

Liabilities due after one year or more (60)

Net assets 205

The Group’s interest in Lazard Partners Limited Partnership and the three Lazard Houses for the year ended 

31 December 1999 is shown below. On 3 March 2000, the Group sold its interests in Lazard Partners Limited Partnership

and the three Lazard Houses for £436m comprising £40m in respect of dividends and partnership distributions and

proceeds of £396m, less costs of £4m, giving rise to a profit on sale of £231m before tax estimated at £34m.

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Profit before tax 8 48

Taxation (2) (7)

Profit after taxation 6 41

Fixed assets – 26

Current assets – 3,399

Liabilities due within one year – (2,819)

Liabilities due after one year or more – (457)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

16. OTHER FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

2000 1999

all figures in £ millions valuation book value valuation book value

Listed 82 82 51 16

Unlisted 73 73 83 83

155 155 134 99

note • The valuations of unlisted investments are directors’ valuations as at 31 December 2000. If all investments were realised at valuation there
would be no liability for taxation.

own shares 

all figures in £ millions held other total

Cost

At 31 December 1999 10 89 99

Exchange differences – 5 5

Additions 71 61 132

Owned by subsidiaries acquired – 38 38

Television assets contributed – (75) (75)

Transfers – (14) (14)

Disposals (1) (15) (16)

At 31 December 2000 80 89 169

Provision

At 31 December 1999 – – –

Transfer from other creditors 6 – 6

Disposals (1) – (1)

Provided during the year 9 – 9

At 31 December 2000 14 – 14

Net book value

At 31 December 1999 10 89 99

At 31 December 2000 66 89 155

note • The Pearson Employee Share Trust and Pearson plc Employee Share Ownership Trusts hold 4.2m (1999: 1m) Pearson plc ordinary shares which
had a market value of £66m at 31 December 2000 (1999: £19m). These shares have been acquired by the trusts, using funds provided by Pearson
plc, to meet obligations under various executive and employee option and restricted share plans. Under these plans the participants become entitled
to shares after a specified number of years and subject to certain performance criteria being met. Pearson aims to hedge its liability under the plans
by buying shares through the trusts to meet the anticipated future liability. The anticipated future liability is regularly re-assessed during the year
and additional shares are purchased when required to meet an increase in this liability. The cost of funding and administering the trusts are charged
to the profit and loss account in the period to which they relate. The cost of the shares is being amortised over the performance period of the
associated plans. Dividends on the shares held by the trusts have been waived.

17. STOCKS

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Raw materials 29 35

Work in progress 68 62

Finished goods 383 310

Pre-publication costs 348 284

828 691

note • The replacement cost of stocks is not materially different from book value.
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18. DEBTORS

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade debtors 809 807

Associates 99 10

Royalty advances 88 83

Other debtors 95 84

Prepayments and accrued income 58 82

1,149 1,066

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Royalty advances 48 54

Other debtors 19 6

Prepayments and accrued income 1 6

68 66

1,217 1,132

19. CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS

2000 1999

all figures in £ millions valuation book value valuation book value

Listed 8 8 – –

Unlisted 4 4 4 4

12 12 4 4

note • The valuations of unlisted investments are directors’ valuations as at 31 December 2000. If all investments were realised at valuation there
would be no liability for taxation. 

all figures in £ millions

Summary of movements

At 31 December 1999 4

Transfers 9

Disposals (1)

At 31 December 2000 12

20. CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

2000 1999

all figures in £ millions Group company Group company

Cash, bank current accounts and overnight deposits 425 – 288 –

Certificates of deposit and commercial paper 15 – 22 –

Term bank deposits 76 56 18 7

516 56 328 7
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A full discussion on treasury policy is given in the Financial Review on pages 36 to 38. Short-term debtors and creditors

have been excluded from all the following disclosures, other than currency risk disclosures.

a. Maturity of borrowings and other financial liabilities

The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings and other financial liabilities is shown below.

2000 1999

all figures in £ millions Group company Group company

Maturity of borrowings

Short-term

Bank loans and overdrafts 112 225 47 130

Total due within one year 112 225 47 130
Medium and long-term

Loans or instalments thereof repayable:
From one to two years 100 – 155 155
From two to five years 1,626 905 1,617 906
After five years not by instalments 979 813 504 351

Total due after more than one year 2,705 1,718 2,276 1,412

Total borrowings 2,817 1,943 2,323 1,542

note • At 31 December 2000 £1,134m (1999: £547m) of debt, including commercial paper, currently classified from two to five years would be
repayable within one year if refinancing contracts were not in place. The short-term bank loans and overdrafts of the Group are lower than those of
the company because of bank offset arrangements.

2000 1999

Group Group

Group other Group other

finance financial Group finance financial Group 

all figures in £ millions leases liabilities total leases liabilities total

Maturity of other financial liabilities

Amounts falling due:
In one year or less or on demand 6 5 11 5 – 5
In more than one year 
but not more than two years 3 16 19 7 11 18
In more than two years 
but not more than five years 6 14 20 3 4 7
In more than five years 1 10 11 – 1 1

16 45 61 15 16 31

b. Borrowings by instrument
2000 1999

all figures in £ millions Group company Group company

Unsecured

10.75% Sterling Bonds 2002 100 – 100 –
9.5% Sterling Bonds 2004 130 – 120 –
4.625% €uro Bonds 2004 356 356 345 345
7.125% US Dollar notes 2006 166 – 153 –
6.125% €uro Bonds 2007 441 441 – –
10.5% Sterling Bonds 2008 100 100 100 100
7% Sterling Bonds 2014 272 272 251 251
Variable rate loan notes 74 74 – –
Bank loans and overdrafts and 
commercial paper 1,178 700 1,254 846

Total borrowings 2,817 1,943 2,323 1,542
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTI N UED)

c. Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Expiring within one year – –

Expiring between one and two years – 155

Expiring in more than two years 609 362

609 517

note • All of the above committed borrowing facilities incur commitment fees at market rates.

d. Currency and interest rate risk profile
2000

fixed rate borrowings

weighted weighted

total total average average

variable fixed interest period for

borrowings rate rate rate which rate is 

£m £m £m % fixed – years

Currency and interest rate

risk profile of borrowings

US dollar 1,782 721 1,061 6.2 4.1

Sterling 587 447 140 8.4 4.8

€uro 417 379 38 5.4 4.2

Other currencies 31 31 – – –

2,817 1,578 1,239

1999

fixed rate borrowings

weighted weighted

total total average average

variable fixed interest period for

borrowings rate rate rate which rate is 

£m £m £m % fixed – years

Currency and interest rate

risk profile of borrowings

US dollar 1,795 790 1,005 6.1 4.6

Sterling 280 130 150 8.5 5.0

€uro 248 248 – – –

2,323 1,168 1,155

note • The figures shown in the tables above take into account interest rate, currency swaps and forward rate contracts entered into by the Group.
Variable rate borrowings bear interest at rates based on relevant national LIBOR equivalents.

2000

other total total

financial fixed no interest

all figures in £ millions liabilities rate paid

Currency and interest rate risk profile of other 

financial liabilities

US dollar 48 11 37

Sterling 13 5 8

61 16 45
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTI N UED)

d. Currency and interest rate risk profile (continued)

all figures in £ millions 1999

other total total

financial fixed no interest

liabilities rate paid

Currency and interest rate risk profile of other financial liabilities

US dollar 21 14 7

Sterling 9 – 9

Other currencies 1 1 –

31 15 16

note • Variable rate financial liabilities bear interest at rates based on relevant national LIBOR equivalents.

2000

cash at short- other

bank and term financial

all figures in £ millions in hand deposits assets total

Currency and interest rate risk profile of financial assets

US dollar 223 56 21 300

Sterling 6 15 9 30

€uro 69 3 1 73

Other currencies 127 17 – 144

425 91 31 547

Floating rate 326 7 – 333

Fixed rate 50 84 2 136

No interest paid 49 – 29 78

425 91 31 547

note • Floating rate cash and deposits earn interest based on relevant national LIBID equivalents. Fixed rate cash and deposits earn interest at rates
between 4.5% and 12%. Of the total financial assets earning interest at fixed rates, £94m are US dollar denominated.

1999

cash at short- other

bank and term financial

all figures in £ millions in hand deposits assets total

Currency and interest rate risk profile of financial assets

US dollar 183 7 1 191

Sterling 5 17 2 24

€uro 61 14 1 76

Other currencies 39 2 – 41

288 40 4 332

Floating rate 221 1 – 222

Fixed rate 48 35 – 83

No interest paid 19 4 4 27

288 40 4 332

note • Floating rate cash and deposits earn interest based on relevant national LIBID equivalents. Fixed rate cash and deposits earn interest at rates
between 3% and 8.4%.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTI N UED)

e. Currency exposures

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than

their local currency.

2000

net foreign monetary assets/(liabilities)

all figures in £ millions US dollar sterling euro other total

Functional currency of entity:

US dollar – 1 – 6 7

Sterling 10 – 12 19 41

€uro – 2 – – 2

Other currencies – (1) – – (1)

10 2 12 25 49

1999

net foreign monetary assets/(liabilities)

all figures in £ millions US dollar sterling euro other total

Functional currency of entity:

US dollar – (4) 2 9 7

Sterling 21 – 6 14 41

Other currencies 5 (3) – – 2

26 (7) 8 23 50

f. Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The table below shows the book value and the fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

2000 1999

all figures in £ millions book value fair value book value fair value

Primary financial instruments held or issued 

to finance the Group’s operations

Other financial assets 31 31 4 4

Other financial liabilities (61) (61) (31) (31)

Cash at bank and in hand 425 425 288 288

Short-term deposits 91 91 40 40

Short-term borrowings (112) (112) (47) (47)

Medium and long-term borrowings (2,705) (2,683) (2,276) (2,307)

Derivative financial instruments held to manage 

the interest rate and currency profile

Interest rate swaps – (4) – 23

Currency swaps – 20 – 10

Foreign exchange contracts – 2 – 1

note • Other financial assets, other financial liabilities, cash at bank and in hand, short-term deposits and short-term borrowings: the fair value
approximates to the carrying value due to the short maturity periods of these financial instruments. Medium and long-term borrowings: the fair value
is based on market values or, where these are not available, on the quoted market prices of comparable debt issued by other companies. Interest
rate swaps: the fair value of interest rate swaps is based on market values. At 31 December 2000 the notional principal value of these swaps was
£2,057m (1999: £1,818m). Currency swaps: the fair value of these contracts is based on market values. At 31 December 2000 the Group had £890m
(1999: £473m) of such contracts outstanding.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTI N UED)

g. Hedges

The Group’s policy on hedges is explained on page 36. The table below shows the extent to which the Group has off-balance

sheet (unrecognised) and on-balance sheet (deferred) gains and losses in respect of financial instruments used as hedges

at the beginning and end of the year. It also shows the amount of such gains and losses which have been included in the

profit and loss account for the year and those gains and losses which are expected to be included in next year’s or later

profit and loss accounts.

unrecognised

total net deferred 

all figures in £ millions gains losses gains/(losses) gains

Gains and losses on hedges at 31 December 1999 51 (17) 34 4

Gains and losses arising in previous years that 
were recognised in 2000 (8) 1 (7) (2)

Gains and losses arising before 31 December 1999 that 

were not recognised in 2000 43 (16) 27 2

Gains and losses arising in 2000 that were 
not recognised in 2000 (2) (7) (9) –

Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges 

at 31 December 2000 41 (23) 18 2

Of which:

Gains and losses expected to be recognised in 2001 2 – 2 2

Gains and losses expected to be recognised in 2002 or later 39 (23) 16 –

22. OTHER CREDITORS

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors 426 473

Taxation 255 294

Social security and other taxes 3 28

Other creditors 121 74

Accruals and deferred income 567 482

Obligations under finance leases 6 5

Dividends 106 85

1,484 1,441

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Trade creditors – 2

Other creditors 21 10

Accruals and deferred income 3 10

Obligations under finance leases 10 10

34 32

note • Accruals and deferred income includes £2m (1999: £4m) relating to the unamortised profit arising out of the unwinding of a sterling interest
rate swap in 1994. The swap was arranged in 1992 in connection with the issue of £100m 10.75% Sterling Bonds 2002. The profit 
is being amortised over the remaining life of the bonds. None of the amount falls due after more than one year.
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23. DEFERRED TA X ATION

all figures in £ millions 2000

Summary of movements

At 31 December 1999 21

Subsidiary undertakings acquired/disposed (8)

Television assets contributed (8)

Transfers 8

Net release in the year (4)

At 31 December 2000 9

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Deferred taxation derives from

Capital allowances 4 1

Taxation on unremitted overseas earnings 19 18

Other timing differences (14) 2

9 21

Deferred taxation not provided

Relating to revalued assets and timing differences 4 4

Relating to gains subject to roll-over relief 1 1

5 5

note • The Group has calculated deferred tax not provided on rolled over gains in 2000 taking into account the indexation allowance which would be
deductible on a disposal of the asset into which the gain was rolled.

24. OTHER PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

post- deferred

all figures in £ millions retirement consideration integration reorganisations leases other total

At 31 December 1999 95 29 24 6 25 27 206

Exchange differences 7 2 1 – 1 – 11

Subsidiary undertakings 
acquired/disposed 1 5 14 8 (3) 1 26

Deferred consideration 
arising on acquisitions – 39 – – – – 39

Television assets contributed (2) (14) – – (1) (2) (19)

Transfer from creditors 1 – 3 1 1 (1) 5

Released (2) – – (1) – (3) (6)

Provided 24 – 21 6 – – 51

Utilised (15) (5) (24) (4) (3) (5) (56)

At 31 December 2000 109 56 39 16 20 17 257

note

a . Post-retirement provisions are in respect of pensions, £46m and post-retirement medical benefits, £63m.

b. Deferred consideration. Included within the balance is £30m which relates to the purchase of Forum in 2000 which will be paid in 2001.

c . Integration. During the year £21m has been provided (see note 2) mainly in respect of the acquisitions of Dorling Kindersley and NCS. £24m has
been utilised mainly in respect of the integration of Simon & Schuster following its acquisition in 1998. The balance is expected to be utilised in the
year ended 31 December 2001.

d . Reorganisations. Included in the balance is £7m in respect of the acquisition of Forum which is expected to be utilised in the year ended
31 December 2001.

e . Lease commitments. These relate primarily to onerous lease contracts, acquired as part of the purchase of subsidiary undertakings, which have
expiry dates up to 2010. The provision is based on current occupancy estimates and it has been assumed that the properties will not be sub-let.

f . Other. Included within other is £9m (1999: £12m) in respect of warranty and legal claims, the timing of the settlement of which is unknown. The
balance, which relates to a number of small items, is expected to be utilised over varying time periods.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL

number 

(000s) £m

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 25p each

At 31 December 2000 916,000 229

Called up, allotted and fully paid

At 31 December 1999 612,670 153

Issued under share option and employee share schemes 2,895 1

Issued under placing 11,500 3

Issued under rights issue 170,528 42

At 31 December 2000 797,593 199

note • The consideration received in respect of shares issued during the year was £1,961m (1999: £18m). In January 2000 Pearson placed 11,500,000
ordinary shares and raised approximately £250m, after expenses, to fund its existing and new internet-related businesses. In September 2000
Pearson completed a 3 for 11 rights issue of 170,528,278 new Pearson shares at a price of £10 per ordinary share. The purpose of the rights issue
was to finance the acquisition of National Computer Systems, Inc.

number original

of shares subscription

when (000s) price (p) exercise

granted restated restated period

Options outstanding at 31 December 2000

Worldwide Save for Shares plans 1994 70 455 1999 – 02

1995 89 390 2000 – 03

1996 345 517 2001 – 04

1997 284 530 2000 – 05

1998 922 687 2001 – 06

1999 1,407 913 – 970 2001 – 07

2000 728 688 – 1,793 2000 – 08

3,845

Executive share option plans 1991 34 337 – 365 1994 – 01

1992 43 293 – 380 1995 – 02

1994 196 567 – 635 1997 – 04

1995 271 487 – 606 1998 – 05

1996 484 584 – 683 1999 – 06

1997 1,801 664 – 758 2000 – 07

1998 2,838 847 – 1,090 2001 – 08

1999 3,234 1,081 – 1,285 2002 – 09

2000 7,757 100 – 2,481 2000 – 10

16,658

note • The subscription prices have been rounded up to the nearest whole penny. The number of shares and the original subscription price have been
restated to reflect the rights issue of equity shares during 2000. The 2000 figures include replacement options granted to employees of Dorling
Kindersley and the Family Education Network following their acquisition during the year.
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26. RESERVES

share premium profit and 

all figures in £ millions account loss account

Summary of movements

At 31 December 1999 517 651

Exchange differences – 87

Premium on issue of 185m equity shares 1,923 (8)

Goodwill arising on prior year acquisitions – 1

Goodwill written back on business combinations – 585

Goodwill written back – 68

Replacement options granted on acquisition of subsidiary

– at acquisition – 5

– post acquisition – 1

Profit retained for the year – 15

At 31 December 2000 2,440 1,405

Analysed as:

Joint ventures and associates – 22

Group excluding joint ventures and associates 2,440 1,383

note • Cumulative goodwill relating to acquisitions made prior to 1998, which was deducted from reserves, amounts to £1,307m (1999: £1,870m).
During 2000 Pearson plc received £27m on the issue of shares in respect of the exercise of options awarded under various share option plans.
Employees paid £19m to the Group for the issue of these shares and the balance of £8m comprised contributions to the qualifying employee share
ownership trust (QUEST) from subsidiary undertakings. The Group has taken advantage of the exemption available by UITF abstract 17 and has not
incurred a charge on options granted at a discount to market value for its Inland Revenue approved SAYE schemes. At 31 December 2000 £2m of
proceeds on the issue of shares were in transit.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

27. ACQUISITIONS

In May 2000 the Group acquired Dorling Kindersley plc and in September 2000 the Group acquired National Computer
Systems Inc (NCS). In February 2000 the Group combined its Asset Valuation business with Data Broadcasting Inc (DBC)
and retained a 60% shareholding in the new combined business. In July 2000 the Group combined its television business
with CLT-Ufa and retained a 22% shareholding in the new combined business, the RTL Group. All acquisitions and
combinations have been consolidated applying acquisition accounting principles.

a. Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses

2000 1999

Dorling

all figures in £ millions Kindersley NCS DBC RTL other total total

Tangible fixed assets 10 115 11 – 11 147 (4)
Joint ventures 2 – – – – 2 –
Associates – – 122 183 – 305 –
Fixed asset investments – 29 8 – 1 38 –
Stocks 38 32 – – 11 81 (2)
Debtors 40 102 9 – 24 175 9
Current asset investments – – – – – – 27
Creditors (106) (71) (31) – (47) (255) (20)
Provisions (2) (20) (1) – (10) (33) 10
Deferred taxation – – 6 – 2 8 1
Net borrowing acquired (49) 9 31 – (4) (13) –

(67) 196 155 183 (12) 455 21
Equity minority interests – – (99) – (2) (101) 32

Net assets acquired at fair value (67) 196 56 183 (14) 354 53

Fair value of consideration:
Cash (317) (1,709) (2) – (232) (2,260) (267)
Television assets contributed – – – (284) – (284) –
Deferred cash consideration – (3) – – (36) (39) (4)
Costs accrued (1) (1) – (20) (1) (23) (2)
Net prior year adjustments – – – – 4 4 33
Replacement options granted – – – – (5) (5) –

(318) (1,713) (2) (304) (270) (2,607) (240)
Goodwill previously written off on
businesses combined – – (73) (512) – (585) –

Total consideration (318) (1,713) (75) (816) (270) (3,192) (240)

Goodwill arising 385 1,517 19 633 284 2,838 187

Analysed as:
Goodwill written off to reserves – – – – (1) (1) –
Goodwill attributable to associates – – – 633 – 633 –
Goodwill attributable to subsidiaries 385 1,517 19 – 285 2,206 187

385 1,517 19 633 284 2,838 187

note • Goodwill written off to reserves relates to acquisitions made before 1 January 1998.

2000

Dorling 

all figures in £ millions Kindersley NCS DBC RTL other total

Acquisition fair values

Book value of net assets acquired/combined (3) 178 52 147 11 385
Fair value adjustments (64) 18 103 36 (23) 70

Fair value to the Group (67) 196 155 183 (12) 455

note • Other fair value adjustments comprise the revaluation of net assets.
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27. ACQUISITIONS (CONTI N UED)

b. Dorling Kindersley

accounting provisional

book value at policy fair value

all figures in £ millions 9 May 2000 alignment revaluations 31 Dec 2000

Tangible fixed assets 18 (1) (7)a 10

Joint ventures 2 – – 2

Stocks 85 (35) (12)b 38

Debtors 48 (1) (7)c 40

Creditors (106) – – (106)

Provisions (1) – (1) (2)

Net borrowing (49) – – (49)

Net liabilities acquired (3) (37) (27) (67)

note • Dorling Kindersley was acquired in May 2000. All fair value adjustments are provisional. These adjustments will be finalised in the 2001 financial
statements when a detailed review of fair values has been completed.

Accounting policy alignment

The accounting policies of Dorling Kindersley have been changed to bring them into line with the accounting policies of
Penguin. The most significant changes are to expense internal pre-publication costs, which were carried in stock until the
publication of a title, and to align policies on stock provisioning.

Revaluations

a Fixed assets have been reduced to write down certain back office software development costs to their recoverable amount.

b Work in progress and finished goods amounting to £12m have been written off in respect of obsolete product to bring
the value down to its net realisable value.

c Debtors have been reduced by £7m to bring the value down to its net realisable value.

1 July 1999 to 1 July 1998 to

all figures in £ millions 9 May 2000 30 June 1999

Dorling Kindersley financial information

Sales 151 198

Operating (loss)/profit (26) 12

Exceptional operating items (28) –

Non-operating items – (1)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (56) 11

Taxation 1 (4)

(Loss)/profit for the financial period (55) 7

Other net gains and losses recognised in reserves – (1)

Total recognised (losses)/gains relating to the period (55) 6

note • The above results are based on the accounting policies of Dorling Kindersley prior to acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

27. ACQUISITIONS (CONTI N UED)

c. National Computer Systems

provisional

book value at fair value

all figures in £ millions 8 Sept 2000 revaluations 31 Dec 2000

Tangible fixed assets 114 1 115

Fixed asset investments 29 – 29

Stocks 31 1 32

Debtors 104 (2) 102

Creditors (108) 37 a (71)

Provisions – (20)b (20)

Deferred taxation (1) 1 –

Net cash 9 – 9

Net assets acquired 178 18 196

note • NCS was acquired in September 2000. All fair value adjustments are provisional. These adjustments will be finalised in the 2001 financial
statements when a detailed review of fair values has been completed.

Revaluations

a Current taxation payable has been reduced to reflect the receipt of £29m post acquisition which related to pre-acquisition
items. Creditors of £6m have been moved to provisions to more accurately reflect the nature of the liability and creditors
of £2m no longer required have been released.

b Additional provisions have been made of which £8m relates to severance obligations existing at the acquisition date, £3m
relates to various outstanding claims and £3m relates to deferred consideration in respect of earlier acquisitions.

30 Jan 2000 to 1 Feb 1999 to

all figures in £ millions 8 Sept 2000 29 Jan 2000

NCS financial information

Sales 308 417

Operating profit 27 46

Profit before taxation 26 45

Taxation (10) (17)

Profit for the financial period 16 28

Other net gains and losses recognised in reserves – 1

Total recognised gains relating to the period 16 29

note • The above results are based on the accounting policies of NCS prior to acquisition.
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27. ACQUISITIONS (CONTI N UED)

d. Data Broadcasting Corporation Inc – combination of assets

On 29 February 2000 the Group combined its Asset Valuation business with Data Broadcasting Corporation Inc (DBC) and

retained a 60% shareholding in the new combined business. The difference between the value of the net assets of the

Group’s Asset Valuation business contributed and the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the DBC business

acquired has been taken to goodwill. 

provisional

book value at fair value

all figures in £ millions 29 Feb 2000 revaluations 31 Dec 2000

Associates 20 102 122

Other net assets 32 1 33

Net assets of DBC 52 103 155

DBC assets not attributable to Pearson (40%) (62)

Share of Asset Valuation business assets 
no longer attributable to Pearson (37)

(99)

56

note • All fair value adjustments are provisional. These adjustments will be finalised in the 2001 financial statements when a detailed review of fair
values has been completed.

Revaluations

The carrying value of the associate, CBSMarketwatch, has been increased to reflect its market value, based on the quoted
share price, at the date of acquisition.

all figures in £ millions 2000

Goodwill arising on combination

Share of net assets of DBC attributable to Pearson (60% of £155m) 93

Share of net assets of Asset Valuation business contributed (40% of £92m) (37)

Goodwill previously written off to reserves (73)

Costs (2)

(112)

Goodwill arising 19

note • The net assets of the Group’s Asset Valuation business contributed amounted to £92m.

1 Jan 2000 to 1 Jan 1999 to

all figures in £ millions 29 Feb 2000 31 Dec 1999

DBC financial information

Sales 23 110

Operating loss (1) (3)

Non-operating items (4) (14)

Loss before taxation (5) (17)

Taxation (1) (6)

Loss for the financial period (6) (23)

Other net gains and losses recognised in reserves (1) –

Total recognised losses relating to the period (7) (23)

note • The above results are based on the accounting policies of DBC prior to acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

27. ACQUISITIONS (CONTI N UED)

e. RTL – combination of assets

On 25 July 2000 the Group combined its television business with CLT-Ufa and retained a 22% shareholding in the new

combined business, the RTL Group. The difference between the value of the net assets of the Group’s television business

contributed and the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the CLT-Ufa business acquired has been taken 

to goodwill. 

provisional

book value at fair value

all figures in £ millions 25 July 2000 revaluations 31 Dec 2000

Share of net assets 147 36 183

note • All fair value adjustments are provisional. These adjustments will be finalised in the 2001 financial statements when a detailed review of fair
values has been completed.

Revaluations

Fixed assets have been revalued to their fair market value.

all figures in £ millions 2000

Television assets contributed

Intangible assets (68)

Tangible fixed assets (56)

Associates (65)

Fixed asset investments (75)

Stocks (63)

Debtors (95)

Creditors 150

Provisions 19

Deferred taxation 8

Equity minority interests 1

Net cash (40)

Net assets of Group’s television business contributed (284)

Goodwill previously written off to reserves (512)

Costs (20)

Share of net assets of RTL Group attributable to Pearson 183

Goodwill arising 633

f. Cash flow from acquisitions

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Cash – current year acquisitions (see page 86) 2,260 267

Deferred payments for prior year acquisitions and other items 16 (18)

Net cash outflow 2,276 249

note • Contributions to the cash flow from acquisitions in 2000 are as follows: net cash outflow from operating activities £(44)m, returns on
investments and servicing of finance £(1)m, taxation £(3)m and capital expenditure and financial investment £1m.
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28. DISPOSALS

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Disposal of subsidiaries and businesses

Intangible assets (35) (1)

Tangible fixed assets (3) (14)

Stocks (18) (4)

Debtors (4) (20)

Creditors – 22

Provisions 7 5

Deferred taxation – 1

Equity minority interest (50) –

Net cash – (3)

Net assets disposed of (103) (14)

Proceeds received 192 57

Costs (27) (19)

Net prior year adjustments (5) (5)

Profit on sale 57 19

Goodwill written back from reserves (27) (63)

Net profit/(loss) on sale 30 (44)

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Total goodwill written back from reserves

On disposal of subsidiaries 27 63

On disposal of associates (see note 15) 41 –

68 63

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Cash flow from disposals

Cash – current year disposals 192 57

Costs paid (27) (9)

Deferred receipts and payments from prior year disposals and other amounts (7) (4)

Net cash inflow 158 44

note • Contributions to the cash flow from disposals in 2000 are as follows: net cash outflow from operating activities £(8)m and taxation £(3)m.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

29. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2000 1999

all figures in £ millions continuing discontinued total continuing discontinued total

a. Reconciliation of operating 

profit to net cash inflow from 

operating activities

Operating profit – total 203 8 211 270 48 318

Share of operating loss/(profit) 
of joint ventures and associates 19 (8) 11 (23) (48) (71)

Depreciation charges 100 – 100 82 – 82

Goodwill amortisation 188 – 188 130 – 130

(Increase) in stocks (97) – (97) (57) – (57)

Decrease/(increase) in debtors 53 – 53 (71) – (71)

(Decrease)/increase in creditors (119) – (119) 127 – 127

(Decrease) in operating provisions (4) – (4) (33) – (33)

Other and non-cash items 18 – 18 8 – 8

Net cash inflow from operating activities 361 – 361 433 – 433

Purchase of fixed assets and 
finance lease payments (149) – (149) (113) – (113)

Sale of operating tangible
fixed assets 22 – 22 24 – 24

Dividends from associates 11 38 49 12 32 44

Other (8) – (8) 8 – 8

Operating cash flow 237 38 275 364 32 396

Analysed between:

Operating cash flow before internet 
enterprises and other items 542 38 580 508 32 540

Cash effect of other items:

Dorling Kindersley exceptional 
payments (46) – (46) – – –

Integration costs:

Simon & Schuster (27) – (27) (110) – (110)

Dorling Kindersley (25) – (25) – – –

NCS (9) – (9) – – –

Cash effect of internet enterprises (198) – (198) (34) – (34)

Operating cash flow 237 38 275 364 32 396

note • The Dorling Kindersley exceptional payments are in respect of creditors on the acquisition balance sheet beyond normal trading terms.
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29. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTI N UED)

debt due debt due

over- sub- short-term within after finance

all figures in £ millions cash drafts total deposits one year one year leases total

b. Analysis of net debt

At 31 December 1999 288 (38) 250 40 (9) (2,276) (15) (2,010)

Exchange differences 14 (7) 7 (1) (1) (122) (1) (118)

Acquired with subsidiary* – – – – – – (11) (11)

Television assets contributed* – – – (82) – 60 2 (20)

Debt issue costs – – – – – 4 – 4

Other non-cash items – – – – – (17) (1) (18)

Net cash flow 123 (65) 58 134 8 (354) 10 (144)

At 31 December 2000 425 (110) 315 91 (2) (2,705) (16) (2,317)

At 31 December 1998 305 (67) 238 40 (5) (2,552) (19) (2,298)

Exchange differences (23) 3 (20) 1 – (30) (1) (50)

Disposed with subsidiary* – – – – – – 1 1

Debt issue costs – – – – – 5 – 5

Other non-cash items – – – – – (5) (7) (12)

Net cash flow 6 26 32 (1) (4) 306 11 344

At 31 December 1999 288 (38) 250 40 (9) (2,276) (15) (2,010)

* Excluding cash and overdrafts.

note • Finance leases are included within other creditors in the balance sheet (see note 22).

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

c. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Decrease in net debt from net cash flow 58 32

Decrease/(increase) in net debt from management of liquid resources 134 (1)

(Increase)/decrease in net debt from other borrowings (346) 302

Decrease in finance leases 10 11

Television assets contributed (20) –

Acquired with subsidiary (11) –

Disposed with subsidiary – 1

Debt issue costs 4 5

Other non-cash items (18) (12)

Exchange differences (118) (50)

Movement in net debt in the year (307) 288

Net debt at beginning of the year (2,010) (2,298)

Net debt at end of the year (2,317) (2,010)

d. Tax paid includes £30m (1999: £100m) relating to items excluded from operating profit.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are contingent Group and company liabilities in respect of indemnities, warranties and guarantees in relation to

former subsidiary undertakings and in respect of guarantees in relation to subsidiaries and associated undertakings. In

addition there are contingent liabilities of the Group in respect of legal claims. None of these claims is expected to result

in a material gain or loss to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

31. COMMITMENTS UNDER LEASES

At 31 December 2000, the Group had commitments under leases other than finance leases, to make payments in 2001

as follows:

land and

all figures in £ millions buildings other

For leases expiring:

In 2001 7 3

Between 2002 and 2005 37 14

Thereafter 61 1

105 18

32. RELATED PARTIES

Joint ventures and associates • Loans and equity advanced to joint ventures and associates during the year and at the

balance sheet date are shown in notes 14 and 15. Amounts falling due from joint ventures and associates are set out in

note 18. Dividends receivable from joint ventures and associates are set out in notes 14 and 15. Details of individually

significant transactions are shown below. 

a. During 2000, the Group combined its television business with CLT-Ufa and retained a 22% stake in the new combined

business, the RTL Group. Significant related party transactions in respect of the television business were as follows.

Channel 5 Television Group Ltd • During the year the Group provided £22m (1999: £31m) of programming to Channel 5

Broadcasting Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Channel 5 Television Group Ltd, and undertook transmission to the value

of £2m (1999: £3m) for Channel 5 Engineering Services Ltd, a subsidiary of Channel 5 Television Group Ltd. At 31 December

1999 £6m was outstanding. During the year the Group paid £4m (1999: £4m) in respect of consortium relief.

Grundy associates • During the year the Group received £2m (1999: £3m) for management fees, format rights and royalties

from a number of associates of Grundy Worldwide Ltd, of which £2m was outstanding at 31 December 1999. No individual

transactions were material to the Group.

Magyar-RTL • During the year the Group provided programmes and services to the value of £nil (1999: £1m) none of which

was outstanding at 31 December 1999.

b. Lazard Partnership • During the year the Group sold its interests in the three Lazard Houses.

The Group periodically placed funds on deposit with the Lazard Houses. The investments were made on an arm’s-length

basis and no transactions were individually material in the context of the Group treasury transactions. The Group also used

the Lazard Houses to provide professional advice. Fees for such services for the period were not material to either party.
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33. COMPANY BALANCE SHEET as at 31 Dec 2000

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999 note

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 7 – 34

Investments: subsidiaries 2,586 2,401 34

Investments: own shares held 64 8 34

2,657 2,409

Current assets

Debtors:

Subsidiaries – due within one year 2,841 2,233

Associates – due within one year 65 –

Subsidiaries – due after more than one year 2,289 1,403

Taxation 15 –

Other debtors 11 6

Prepayments and accrued income 4 1

Cash at bank and in hand 56 7 20

5,281 3,650

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year

Short-term borrowing (225) (130) 21

Subsidiaries (983) (1,844)

Taxation – (20)

Other creditors (9) (4)

Accruals and deferred income (20) (30) 34

Dividends (106) (85)

(1,343) (2,113)

Net current assets 3,938 1,537

Total assets less current liabilities 6,595 3,946

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year

Medium and long-term borrowing (1,718) (1,412) 21

Subsidiaries (468) (280)

Accruals and deferred income – (3) 34

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Deferred taxation – (1) 34

Other provisions for liabilities and charges (2) (2)

(2,188) (1,698)

Net assets 4,407 2,248

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 199 153 25

Share premium account 2,440 517 34

Special reserve 397 397 34

Other reserves 50 50 34

Profit and loss account 1,321 1,131 34

Equity shareholders’ funds 4,407 2,248

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 5 March 2001 and signed on its behalf by

Lord Stevenson • John Makinson
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ( C O N T I N U E D )

34. NOTES TO THE COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

all figures in £ millions 2000 1999

Tangible fixed assets (leasehold property)

Cost 8 1

Depreciation (1) (1)

Net book value 7 –

note • The company had capital commitments for fixed assets already under contract of £10m.

all figures in £ millions

Investment in subsidiaries

At 31 December 1999 2,401

Acquisitions 318

Subscription for additional share capital in subsidiaries 193

Disposals (318)

Provision for diminution in value (8)

At 31 December 2000 2,586

note • Shares are stated at cost less provisions for diminution in value or directors’ valuations.

all figures in £ millions

Deferred taxation

At 31 December 1999 (1)

Credit for the year 1

At 31 December 2000 –

Own shares held • Amounts included within own shares held relate to Pearson plc ordinary shares held in respect of the

Pearson plc Employee Share Ownership Trusts (see note 16).

Accruals and deferred income • Accruals and deferred income includes £2m (1999: £4m) relating to the unamortised

profit arising out of the unwinding of a sterling interest rate swap in 1994. The swap was arranged in 1992 in connection

with the issue of £100m 10.75% Sterling Bonds 2002. The profit is being amortised over the remaining life of the bonds.

None of the amount falls due after one year.

share profit

premium special other and loss

all figures in £ millions account reserve reserves account total

Reserves

Summary of movements

At 31 December 1999 517 397 50 1,131 2,095

Premium on issue of 185m equity shares 1,923 – – – 1,923

Replacement options granted 
on acquisition of subsidiary – – – 6 6

Profit for the financial year – – – 348 348

Dividends – – – (164) (164)

At 31 December 2000 2,440 397 50 1,321 4,208

note • The special reserve represents the cumulative effect of cancellation of the company’s share premium account. As permitted by 
section 230(4) of the Companies Act 1985, only the Group’s profit and loss account has been presented.
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PRINCIPAL SUB SIDIARIES AND A SSOCIATES
as at 31 Dec 2000

country of

incorporation 

or registration

Subsidiaries 

The principal operating subsidiaries are listed below.
They operate mainly in the countries of incorporation or
registration, the investments are in equity share capital and 
they are all 100% owned unless stated otherwise.

Pearson Education

Addison Wesley Longman Inc. US

Addison Wesley Educational Publishers Inc. US

Macmillan USA Inc. US

Pearson Education Ltd England

Prentice Hall Inc. US

NCS Pearson Inc. US

FT Group 

Financial Times Group Ltd* England

Financial Times Business Ltd England

Data Broadcasting Inc. (60%) US

Les Echos SA France

Recoletos Compañía Editorial SA (78.97%) Spain

The Penguin Group

Penguin Putnam Inc. US

The Penguin Publishing Co Ltd England

Penguin Books Australia Ltd Australia

Dorling Kindersley Holdings Ltd* England

*Direct investment of Pearson plc.

country of beneficial

incorporation class of interest accounting

or registration share % year end

Associates

FT Group

The Economist Newspaper Ltd England Ord 5p 50 March

‘B’ 5p 100

‘A’ 5p Nil

Trust 5p Nil

Television

RTL Group SA Luxembourg Ord voting 21.6 December

97



FIVE YE AR SUMMARY

all figures in £ millions 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

Sales – continuing operations 1,830 2,011 2,251 3,332 3,874

Sales – underlying growth (%) 5.6 6.5 6.7 7.3 9.2

EBITDA* – before internet enterprises 352 393 455 670 780

Trading margin – before internet enterprises (%) 9.2 11.5 13.1 15.2 16.5

Operating profit before internet enterprises,
goodwill and other items
Pearson Education 60 60 99 257 320
FT Group 89 108 118 150 211
The Penguin Group 27 58 48 65 79
Television 40 26 61 68 68

Continuing operations 216 252 326 540 678

Internet enterprises investment
Pearson Education – – – (3) (83)
FT Group – – – (36) (113)

– – – (39) (196)

Adjusted eps – before internet enterprises** 27.3p 31.2p 37.5p 47.6p 54.6p

Adjusted eps – after internet enterprises** 27.3p 31.2p 37.5p 43.3p 31.9p

Dividends per share** 16.1p 17.4p 18.8p 20.1p 21.4p

Net assets 393 156 1,084 1,327 4,209
Deferred taxation and other provisions 189 212 273 227 266
Net debt 430 707 2,279 1,995 2,301

Capital employed 1,012 1,075 3,636 3,549 6,776

Free cash flow per share* – before internet enterprises** 22.0p 19.9p 40.3p 48.5p 49.1p

*Before goodwill, integration costs and non-operating items.

**Restated to reflect the rights issue of equity shares during 2000.
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CORPORATE AND OPERAT ING ME A SURES

99

Sales – underlying growth

Sales growth excluding the impact of acquisitions and disposals and movements in exchange rates.

all figures in £ millions 2000

Underlying increase 264
Portfolio changes 115
Foreign exchange 125
Internet enterprises 38

Total sales increase 542

Underlying increase 9.2%

EBITDA* – before internet enterprises

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation, seen to be a close proxy for operating
cash flow.

all figures in £ millions 2000

Operating profit (before internet enterprises) 686
Depreciation (before internet enterprises) 94

EBITDA 780

Trading margin – before internet enterprises

Trading profit (operating profit excluding profit from joint ventures, associates and investments) 
as a proportion of sales.

all figures in £ millions 2000

Total operating profit – Group 450
Internet enterprises – Group 183
Investment income (3)

Trading profit 630
Sales 3,829

Trading margin 16.5%

Adjusted eps – before internet enterprises

Earnings excluding non-trading or recurring items (see note 10 for a full definition) divided by the
weighted average number of shares in issue.

all figures in £ millions 2000

Adjusted earnings 397
Weighted average number of shares in issue (millions) 727.7

Adjusted eps 54.6p

Free cash flow per share* – before internet enterprises

Operating cash flow less taxation paid on operating profits and interest paid, divided by the weighted
average number of shares in issue.

all figures in £ millions 2000

Operating cash flow 580
Taxation paid on operating profits (75)
Interest paid (148)

Free cash flow 357
Weighted average shares in issue (millions) 727.7

Free cash flow per share 49.1p

*Before goodwill, integration costs and non-operating items.



SHAREHOLDER INFORMAT ION

Payment of dividends to mandated accounts • Where shareholders have given instruction for payment to be made direct

into a bank or building society, this is done through the Bankers Automated Clearing System (BACS), with the associated

tax voucher showing the tax credit attributable to the dividend payment sent direct to the shareholder at the address shown

on our register. If you wish the tax voucher to be sent to your bank or building society, please inform our registrar, Lloyds

TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6DA. Telephone 0870 600 3986 or, for those shareholders with

hearing difficulties, textphone number 0870 600 3950.

Dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) • The plan provides the benefit of giving shareholders the right to buy the company’s

shares on the London stock market with the cash dividend. If you would like further information about the DRIP, please

contact Lloyds TSB Registrars. Telephone 0870 241 3018.

Personal Equity Plans (PEPs) and Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs) • The government no longer permits investment

to be made in PEPs, although existing PEPs may be continued. Existing Corporate PEP and Single Company PEP holders

who require further information about their PEPs should ring the Halifax helpline on 0870 606 6417. Lloyds TSB Registrars

now offer ISAs in Pearson shares. They can be contacted for information on 0870 242 4244. 

Low cost share dealing facility • A postal facility, which provides a simple, low cost way of buying and selling Pearson

shares, is available through the company’s stockbroker, Cazenove & Co., 12 Tokenhouse Yard, London EC2R 7AN. 

Telephone 020 7588 2828.

Information about the Pearson share price • The current price of Pearson ordinary shares can be obtained from Financial

Times CityLine. Telephone 0891 433620. Calls are charged at 60p per minute.

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) • Pearson’s ordinary shares are now listed on the New York Stock Exchange in the

form of ADRs and traded under the symbol PSO. Each ADR represents one ordinary share. Voting rights as a shareholder

may be exercised through The Bank of New York, ADR Department, 101 Barclay Street, New York, New York 10286,

telephone 800 BNY ADRS (toll free within the US) or (1) 908 769 9835 (outside the US). All enquiries regarding ADR holder

accounts and payment of dividends should be directed to The Bank of New York, the authorised depositary bank for

Pearson’s ADR programme, at the address given above. Pearson will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a

report on Form 20-F that will contain a US GAAP reconciliation.

Advisers • auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers • bankers HSBC Bank Plc • broker Cazenove & Co. • financial advisers Lazard

Brothers & Co. Limited, J. Henry Schroder & Co. Limited • solicitors Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer, Herbert Smith and

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius.
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E X-DIVIDEND DATE  	 Wednesday	 14 March


RECORD DATE 	 Friday	 16 March


ANN UAL GENE RAL MEETI NG  	 Friday	 27 April 


L A ST DATE FOR DIVIDEND REI NVESTMENT ELECTION 	 Thursday 	 17 May


PAYMENT DATE FOR DIVIDEND AND SHARE PURCHA SE �

DATE FOR DIVIDEND REI NVESTMENT  	 Friday	  1 June 


I NTE RIM RESULTS 	 Monday 	 30 July


I NTE RIM DIVIDEND 	 Friday 	 26 October
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